Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Victor I. Band

Date

Colistin Heteroresistance: An Under-recognized and Challenging Form of Antibiotic Resistance

By

Victor I. Band Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Science Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis

> David S. Weiss Advisor

Andrew Neish Committee Member

Jyothi Rengarajan Committee Member

William Shafer Committee Member

Rabindra Tirouvanziam Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

Colistin Heteroresistance: An Under-recognized and Challenging Form of Antibiotic Resistance

By

Victor I. Band B.S., Tufts University, 2011

Advisor: David S. Weiss, PhD

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis 2018

Abstract

Colistin Heteroresistance: An Under-recognized and Challenging Form of Antibiotic Resistance By Victor I. Band

Antibiotic resistance threatens the delivery of safe and effective healthcare resulting in 2 million infections and 23,000 deaths annually in the United States^{1,2}. Further complicating this epidemic are unexplained antibiotic treatment failures caused by bacteria that appear susceptible to an antibiotic³. The phenomenon of heteroresistance occurs when a minor resistant subpopulation exists within a majority susceptible strain. We describe here several instances of heteroresistance to the last-line peptide antibiotic colistin. First, we observed colistin heteroresistant isolates of *Enterobacter cloacae* that were able to mediate lethal infection during colistin treatment. Interestingly, we observed that the resistant subpopulation was augmented by drug treatment as well as host immune pressure, through macrophages and host antimicrobial compounds. We additionally show that these heteroresistant strains can be misclassified as susceptible by routine susceptibility testing. This could conceivably lead to incorrect treatment with colistin which may lead to unexplained treatment failure. We additionally chacterized strains of colistin heteroresistant Klebsiella pneumoniae, which were additionally resistant to the last line carbapenems. Thus, these isolates would rely on a last line drug such as colistin and could also lead to colistin treatment failure. To assess the extent of heteroresistance in clinical isolates, we conducted a study of heteroresistance in a wide-ranging pool of carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae in the United States. We observed a rate of heteroresistance of over 10% in these isolates. Over 90% of these isolates were misclassified as colistin susceptible, thus underestimating total colistin non-susceptibility by over 2-fold. These findings highlight a largely unappreciated phenomenon that could have a significant impact upon antibiotic treatment outcome, exacerbating the menace of antibiotic resistance.

Colistin Heteroresistance: An Under-recognized and Challenging Form of Antibiotic Resistance

By

Victor I. Band B.S., Tufts University, 2011

Advisor David S. Weiss, PhD

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Immunology and Molecular Pathogenesis 2018

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction 1
History of Antibiotic Therapy1
Antibiotic Resistance
Polymyxins and antimicrobial peptide resistance4
Figure 1.1. Bacterial surface modifications that enhance CAMP resistance
Antibiotic Heteroresistance
Figure 1.2. Characteristics of heteroresistance to antibiotics suggest possible clinical impact
Chapter 2: Antibiotic failure mediated by resistant subpopulation in <i>Enterobacter cloacae</i>
Abstract
Results
Figure 2.1. A colistin resistant subpopulation increases in frequency during <i>in vivo</i> infection
Figure 2.2. Innate immune host defenses are required for the increased frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation during infection
Figure 2.3. R/S is refractory to colistin during infection and leads to colistin treatment failure
Figure 2.4. PhoQ is required for the colistin resistant subpopulation and treatment failure . 41
Figure 5. Clinical isolate harboring an undetected colistin resistant subpopulation causes a lethal, antibiotic resistant infection
Discussion
Methods
Supplemental Figures
Figure S2.1. Etests of colistin susceptible and resistant isolates
Figure S2.2. Bacteria from high and low antibiotic growth conditions behave identically after passage
Figure S2.3. DNA sequencing of susceptible and resistant subpopulations
Figure S2.4. Increase in the frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation in the liver during in vivo infection

	Figure S2.5. Frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation increases during <i>in vivo</i> infection	57
	Figure S2.6. Macrophage depletion via clodronate liposomes	58
	Figure S2.7. The human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 leads to an increase in frequency of colistin resistant subpopulation	f the 58
	Figure S2.8. Increased CFU during infection of mice lacking host antimicrobials	59
	Figure S2.9. Infection of mice lacking individual host antimicrobials	60
	Figure S2.10. In vivo growth and expansion of R/S during colistin treatment of mice	61
	Figure S2.11. Expression of PhoQ regulated lipid A modification genes is induced by colistin	62
	Figure S2.12. Lipid A analysis reveals modifications present in resistant subpopulation	63
	Figure S2.13. Kanamycin persisters in R/S are not dependent on PhoQ	64
	Figure S2.14. R/S deficient in PhoQ lacks ability to induce colistin resistant subpopulation	on 65
	Figure S2.15. The frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo increases in presence of drug	the 66
	Figure S2.16. Colistin selects for the colistin resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo	66
	Figure S2.17. Host antimicrobials lead to an increase in the frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo	67
	Figure S2.18. The frequency of the R/S-lo colistin resistant subpopulation increases in macrophages	68
	Figure S2.19. The frequency of the R/S-lo resistant subpopulation increases during mous infection	e 68
	Figure S2.20. Macrophages are required for the increase in the frequency of the R/S-lo resistant subpopulation during infection	69
	Figure S2.21. Specific host antimicrobials contribute to the increased frequency of the R/lo subpopulation <i>in vivo</i>	′S- 69
	Figure S2.22. Inefficacy of colistin in reducing the levels of strain R/S-lo during <i>in vivo</i> infection	70
	Figure S2.23. Schematic indicating how antibiotic-resistant subpopulations can lead to unexplained clinical treatment failure	71
Ch	napter 3: Carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae exhibiting clinically undetect	ted
col	listin heteroresistance lead to treatment failure in a murine model of infection	72
1	Abstract	73
]	Introduction	74

Results74
Figure 3.1. Colistin heteroresistant, carbapenem-resistant <i>Klebsiella pneumoniae</i> harbor clinically undetected resistant subpopulations
Figure 3.2. K. pneumoniae isolates lead to <i>in vivo</i> colistin treatment failure
Discussion
Supplemental Figures
Table S3.1. Antibiograms of colistin heteroresistant K. pneumoniae isolates
Table S3.2. Beta-lactam resistance genes in K. pneumoniae isolates 83
Figure S3.2. Frequency of the resistant subpopulation increases in the presence of colistin 83
Figure S3.1. Increased broth microdilution incubation time facilitates detection of colistin heteroresistance
Figure S3.3. Workflow for genomic and transcriptomic analysis of colistin susceptible and resistant subpopulations
Figure S3.4. Expression of PhoPQ pathway genes in susceptible and resistant subpopulations
Figure S3.5. Frequency of the resistant subpopulation increases during in vivo infection 87
Chapter 4 Heteroresistance to colistin among carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae: A
Multistate Study, 2012-2015
Abstract
Abstract
Abstract
Multistate Study, 2012-2015
Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93
Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93 Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015)
Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93 Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015) 94 Table 4.4 State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Klebsiella Species 97
Multistate Study, 2012-2015
Multistate Study, 2012-2015
Multistate Study, 2012-2015 88 Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93 Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015) 94 Table 4.4 State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Klebsiella Species 97 Table 4.5 Colistin Susceptibility Results of Enterobacteriaceae by Clinical and Laboratory 99 Discussion 100 Methods 103
Multistate Study, 2012-2015. 88 Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93 Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015). 94 Table 4.4 State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Klebsiella Species 97 Table 4.5 Colistin Susceptibility Results of Enterobacteriaceae by Clinical and Laboratory Testing 99 Discussion 100 Methods 103 Supplemental Figures 107
Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93 Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015) 94 Table 4.4 State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Klebsiella Species 97 Table 4.5 Colistin Susceptibility Results of Enterobacteriaceae by Clinical and Laboratory Testing 99 Discussion 100 Methods 103 Supplemental Figures 107 Table S1. Susceptibility to Last-line Antibiotics by Clinical Testing 107
Multistate Study, 2012-2015. 88 Abstract 89 Introduction 90 Results 90 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 91 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 93 Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015). 94 Table 4.4 State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant <i>Klebsiella</i> Species 97 Table 4.5 Colistin Susceptibility Results of Enterobacteriaceae by Clinical and Laboratory 99 Discussion 100 Methods 103 Supplemental Figures 107 Table S1. Susceptibility to Last-line Antibiotics by Clinical Testing 107 Figure S1. Rate of Enterobacter Species and Heteroresistance by Year, 2012-2015 107

Chapter 5: Discussion and Relevance 109		
Immune pressure drives antibiotic resistance	110	
Detection of heteroresistance	111	
Heteroresistance to other drugs	114	
Multiple heteroresistance	116	
Acknowledgements 118		
References		

Chapter 1: Introduction

History of Antibiotic Therapy

Antibiotic therapy has been one of the most impactful healthcare developments of the past century, allowing for great advancement in medicine. For many centuries before the development of antibiotics, there were few ways to treat infections with pathogens from bacterial, viral, fungal and parasitic sources. With the development of the first purified antibiotic, the anti-syphilitic salvarsan, humanity entered a new era of treatment possibilities.

However, there is significant evidence of humans using natural antibiotics for centuries before this discovery. Traditional medicines have taken advantage of sources of antibiotic compounds all over the world. Chinese traditional medicine has used the Artemsia plant as a remedy for a variety of illnesses, which contains the active antimalarial compound artemisinin that was discovered in the 1970s⁴. Red soils used to treat skin infections in Jordan as a historical therapy have recently been shown to contain actinomycete bacteria that produce potent antibiotics. There is even direct evidence of the use of tetracycline in ancient Sudanese and Egyptian skeletons, which is seen in the incorporation of tetracycline in the bones and teeth of these fossils ^{5,6}.

The idea for synthesizing an antibiotic therapy to treat infections is generally credited to Paul Ehrlich. He considered targeted dyes that could specifically label certain microbes, hypothesizing that some type of toxic substance could target microbes in a similar fashion while leaving the host unharmed. This 'magic bullet' (salvarsan) as he termed it was discovered after a 5 year search for a drug to target syphilis, for which there were no treatment options at the time. Salvarsan became the first antibiotic developed and was the sole therapy available from its discovery in 1909 until the development of penicillin in the 1940s⁷. Penicillin was discovered a decade earlier by Alexander Fleming, by observing an area of inhibition in a lawn of bacteria contaminated with Penicillium mold. Years later, due to the efforts of Howard Florey and Ernst Chain, penicillin was isolated and manufactured, showing phenomenal efficacy against a variety of infections⁸. Previously devastating bacterial diseases could be cured in several days, and risky procedures such as invasive surgeries would soon become feasible.

This discovery, along with the simple screening technique used to discover penicillin, led to a golden age in antibiotic development. Over half of the antibiotics commonly in use today were discovered in the 1950s and 1960s⁹. In the 1970s, four more classes of antibiotics were discovered. In the following 40 years, however, only one new class of antibiotic has been discovered, in 1987¹⁰. While there are now many classes of antibiotics available, this 'discovery void' of antibiotics after 1987 has become a significant problem when considering antibiotic resistance¹¹.

Antibiotic Resistance

Soon after the introduction of penicillin, mutants were described that showed decreased susceptibility to this wonder drug¹². Indeed, after every new antibiotic has been introduced in the clinic, resistant mutants follow shortly thereafter, sometimes even before the antibiotic is introduced clinically¹³. This phenomenon, in which bacteria harbor genes or generate mutations that confer resistance to certain antibiotics is known as antibiotic resistance, and threatens the efficacy of all antibiotic therapy. Overuse and misuse of antibiotics lead to selection and

dissemination of bacteria harboring these resistance genes. This is further complicated by the discovery that bacteria can exchange and transfer resistance genes located on mobile plasmids, allowing resistance genes to spread through populations of bacteria.

Today, antibiotic resistance is recognized as a severe public health crisis by many organizations. The US Centers for Disease Control estimated in 2013 that there were over 2 million infections due to antibiotic resistant bacteria in the United States, causing 23,000 deaths and \$35 billion in increased healthcare and opportunity costs¹⁴. Antibiotic resistance was described as "one of our most serious healthcare threats" and the CDC warned of "potentially catastrophic consequences of inaction"¹⁴. In 2014, the World Health Organization released a report on antimicrobial resistance that claimed we could soon be facing a "post-antibiotic era", in which antibiotic therapy was no longer effective due to widespread resistance. This possibility was a threat "so serious that it threatens the achievements of modern medicine"¹⁵.

When you combine increasing antibiotic resistance with the reduced discovery of new antibiotics, many pathogens with multiple forms of antibiotic resistance become difficult to treat. These multi-drug resistant (MDR) organisms have become increasingly common in recent years and can manifest in a variety of bacterial species. One of the most urgent MDR threats are the carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE), a family of Gram-negative bacteria that display resistance to a plethora of antibiotics and cause a range of infections in the hospital environment¹⁶. For pathogens such as these, the most widely used antibiotics are no longer an option, and clinicians must turn to "last-line antibiotics".

Last-line antibiotics, or drugs of last resort, are a group of antibiotics which are not used unless a pathogen displays resistance to more commonly used first line therapy. These drugs are often less efficacious and more toxic than first line antibiotics, which is why they are used much less often. Based on global consumption numbers, first line drug classes such as penicillins and cephalosporins are the most commonly used antibiotics, accounting for 55% of all units used ¹⁷. In contrast, the last line antibiotics, such as aminoglycosides, carbapenems and polymyxins are used very infrequently. Due to rising resistance to first line drugs, the last line drugs are increasing in usage, with carbapenem and polymyxin use increasing between 2000 and 2010 at 45% and 13%, respectively¹⁷.

Polymyxins and antimicrobial peptide resistance

Polymyxins are an important class of last-line antibiotics, that are increasingly needed in the treatment of MDR organisms. Interestingly, they were discovered early in the history of antibiotics, in 1947. Isolated from the Gram-positive bacterium *Paenibacillus polymyxa*, 2 forms of polymyxin were discovered¹⁸ and put into clinical use: polymyxin B and colistin (polymyxin E). However, signs of nephrotoxicity and neurotoxicity lead to polymyxins falling out of favor¹⁹. In recent years, with the rates of resistance to other antibiotics rising, polymyxins have been increasingly used as a last line option for MDR organisms.

Polymyxins belong to the class of molecules known as the cationic antimicrobial peptides (CAMPs). CAMPs have microbicidal properties towards a variety of pathogens including bacteria, viruses, fungi and parasites. They are a large and varied group of peptides produced by many organisms ranging from prokaryotes to vertebrates (over 1,200 have been identified thus far)²⁰. These peptides contain little consensus in their amino acid sequences, though they largely maintain certain key features: they are cationic, amphipathic and relatively hydrophobic²¹. These

attributes are thought to allow polymyxins and other CAMPs to interact with bacterial membranes which contain anionic head groups and hydrophobic fatty acid chains. The CAMPs then destabilize bacterial membranes, which can involve pore formation, leading to cell lysis²². Other CAMPs may also have intracellular targets whose inhibition can lead to disruption of cell wall, protein and nucleic acid synthesis, as well as the direct induction of cell death²³.

While CAMPs can kill a variety of pathogens, Gram-negative bacteria represent a major target, and are the main target for polymyxins clinically. Due to the intense pressure that CAMP-mediated killing exerts on bacteria, some species have evolved ways to resist the action of these antimicrobials. Resistance to CAMPs is thought to have a significant negative effect on the ability of the host to prevent and fight bacterial infections, and also threatens the utility of polymyxins in the clinic. Unfortunately, due to their recent increased use, resistance to polymyxins is already on the rise¹⁹.

Resistance to host cationic antimicrobials may even be facilitated by resistance to polymyxins. Clinical strains of *A. baumannii* that are polymyxin resistant are significantly more resistant to both LL-37 and lysozyme²⁴. This has also been demonstrated in *Enterobacter cloacae*, where colistin heteroresistant strains are resistant to lysozyme after initial treatment with colistin²⁵. This cross resistance between polymyxins and host antimicrobials may interfere with the use of CAMPs as therapeutic tools, including not only polymyxins but many other CAMPs still in development²⁶. The development of CAMP resistance likely allows Gram-negative bacteria to avoid killing by both the host immune system and polymyxin antibiotics. Bacteria have developed a variety of ways to resist killing by CAMPs, which can be split into 5 basic mechanisms: surface remodeling, biofilm production, efflux pumps, binding and sequestration, and proteolytic degradation.



Figure 1.1. Bacterial surface modifications that enhance CAMP resistance. Gram-negative bacterial cell wall structure (A), with magnification of (B) capsule (C) lipopolysaccharide and (D) outer and plasma membranes. LPS structure varies greatly across species, depicted is a representative *E. coli* LPS structure, with modifications from various other species.

Surface remodeling

The outer surface of Gram-negative bacteria is the first barrier to CAMPs and is therefore often modified to enhance resistance (**Figure 1.1**). One of the main ways in which killing by CAMPs can be avoided is through an increase in bacterial surface charge. Host CAMPs contain a region of highly positive charge and are attracted to negatively charged molecules, such as the surface of many bacteria. Thus, increasing surface charge prevents access of CAMPs to the vulnerable bacterial outer membrane²³.

The surface of Gram-negative bacteria is largely composed of the glycolipid lipopolysaccharide (LPS), serving as one of the initial barriers against extracellular stresses. Specifically, LPS is a major constituent of the outer leaflet of the outer membrane phospholipid bilayer, which envelops the peptidoglycan containing periplasm and the inner membrane (**Figure 1.1A**). It is comprised of the hydrophobic lipid A whose acyl chains insert into the membrane, the diverse core oligosaccharide, and the O-antigen comprised of repeating subunits (**Figure 1.1C**). In particular, the lipid A and core oligosaccharide often contain multiple negatively charged residues, such as phosphate groups.

To mitigate the negative charge of LPS, numerous species of bacteria add positive residues to this structure, often to the lipid A. Common positively charged additions to LPS are cationic sugars. For example, the amine containing sugar aminoarabinose is added to a lipid A phosphate group in *P. aeruginosa* as well as *Salmonella typhimurium*, resulting in increased survival of both bacteria in the presence of polymyxin B^{27,28}. Aminoarabinose is also present on the LPS of *Burkholderia* species²⁹. However, this addition seems to be required for *Burkholderia* survival and so has not been directly linked to CAMP resistance. *Francisella novicida* adds another

amine containing sugar, galactosamine, to its single lipid A phosphate group, similarly promoting polymyxin B resistance. Demonstrating the contribution of this modification to pathogenesis, deletion mutants lacking the galactosamine modification are highly attenuated, with a 5 log decrease in virulence in murine infections^{30,31}. Increased CAMP resistance is also linked to cationic sugar addition in *Bordetella pertussis* and *Bordetella bronchiseptica*, in which glucosamine groups are added to both lipid A phosphates^{30,32}.

Other amine containing moieties, such as amino acids, are also added to the lipid A component of LPS to counteract its negative charge. For example, specific strains of *Vibrio cholerae*, the causative agent of the human disease cholera, add glycines to their lipid A³³. While most strains of *Vibrio cholerae* are sensitive to CAMPs, the O1 El Tor strain, responsible for the current cholera pandemic³⁴, has a much higher level of resistance. Hankins et al have shown that this strain of *V. cholerae* adds glycine and diglycine amino acid residues to lipid A acyl chains, increasing the net positive charge of LPS and the bacterial cell surface³³.

Phosphoethanolamine is another amine containing group that can be added to lipid A, as is the case in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*, the causative agent of gonorrhea. This phosphoethanolamine residue is added to one of the phosphate groups of lipid A, under the control of the *lptA* gene that is required for its ability to resist CAMP-mediated killing³⁵. Importantly, this increased resistance to CAMPs facilitates the establishment of a more severe disseminated form of gonorrheal infection³⁶. Phosphoethanolamine addition to LPS also occurs in *Salmonella typhimurium* and in colistin-resistant strains of *A. baumannii*³⁷, where it increases resistance to polymyxin B³⁸.

In addition to adding positive charge to counteract the negative residues on LPS, some bacteria remove negative residues as an alternative mechanism of mitigating overall negative charge. The anionic phosphate groups of lipid A are major negative residues on LPS and are thus targets for removal. In *F. tularensis*, the 4' lipid A phosphate is removed by the phosphatase LpxF, leaving only one phosphate group on lipid A^{39} . In *lpxF* deletion mutants that cannot remove the 4' phosphate, there is greatly increased susceptibility to polymyxin B, as well as the loss of lethality in a mouse intradermal infection^{39,40}. Interestingly, the *lpxF* gene was exogenously expressed in *E. coli* whose lipid A normally has two phosphate groups. These modified *E. coli* lack a 4' lipid A phosphate and consequently display a >15-fold increase in polymyxin MIC⁴¹. The negatively charged phosphate groups on lipid A are a target for removal in many other pathogenic bacterial species, including *Porphyromonas gingivalis*⁴², *Bacteroides fragilis*⁴³ and *Helicobacter pylori*⁴⁴. Together, these data clearly demonstrate that CAMP resistance can be induced by removal of negatively charged lipid A residues.

Distinct from the alteration of charge, another strategy for generating CAMP resistance is to increase the hydrophobicity of LPS. Hydrophobic lipid chains, added to lipid A phosphates, the glucosamine backbone or existing acyl chains, serve to increase LPS saturation and decrease overall permeability, preventing CAMPs from inserting into the membrane⁴⁵. In *Salmonella*, acyl chains are added to the glucosamine backbone and phosphates of lipid A by PagP⁴⁶. *pagP* deletion mutants exhibited increased membrane permeability⁴⁶ and were nearly 4 times more susceptible to the antimicrobial peptide C18G (a synthetic CAMP derived from human platelet factor IV)⁴⁷. Enhanced acylation of lipid A also occurs in *E. coli* and *Yersinia enterocolitica*⁴⁶.

Many of the LPS modifications described above are tightly regulated and induced upon exposure to CAMPs. The well characterized PhoPQ two component regulatory system of *Salmonella typhimurium* controls several modifications that lead to CAMP resistance⁴⁸. It plays a major role in pathogenesis, since deletion mutants lacking this system had over a 4 log virulence defect during murine infection⁴⁹. The fact that this regulatory system contributes to CAMP resistance suggests that avoiding killing by these antimicrobials is critical for virulence. The sensor kinase PhoQ senses environmental stresses, such as low Mg²⁺ and Ca²⁺, as well as those encountered by bacteria within macrophage phagosomes, even directly detecting the presence of the CAMPs LL-37 and C18G⁵⁰ leading to activation of the response regulator PhoP⁵¹. PhoP subsequently activates the PmrAB two component system⁵¹. PmrAB signaling leads to modification of lipid A phosphates with aminoarabinose, increasing charge, and 2-hydroxy myristate, increasing hydrophobicity and decreasing permeability⁵². The PhoPQ and PmrAB systems play similar roles in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* ⁵³ and *Serratia marcescens*⁵⁴, while PmrAB functions in lipid A modification in *Acinetobacter baumannii* in the absence of PhoPQ⁵⁵. These data highlight distinct ways that bacteria inducibly modify lipid A to resist CAMPs, but lipid A is not the only portion of LPS that is a target for modification.

In addition to lipid A modifications, the O-antigen and core sugars have also been implicated in CAMP resistance. In *Brucella abortus*, transposon mutants that lack O-antigen showed significantly decreased survival in polymyxin B and were attenuated in a mouse model⁵⁶. Mutants in *Burkholderia cenocepacia* with a truncated core were unable to grow in high concentrations of polymyxin B as did the wild type strain, and they were additionally outcompeted in a lung infection model⁵⁷. Full length core and O-antigen thus can significantly contribute to CAMP resistance and have an important impact on virulence.

It is important to note that many CAMP resistant bacteria use several of the strategies listed above to mitigate the negative charge of their LPS. For example, *Helicobacter pylori* not only

decreases negative charge by removing a phosphate group, it also adds in its place a positively charged phosphoethanolamine⁴⁴, further increasing the charge of its lipid A. This results in extensive resistance to polymyxin B, with an MIC 25x higher than that of a deletion strain lacking these modifications. Many other Gram-negative bacteria use multiple strategies to mitigate the negative charge of LPS, and also modify other membrane components as well to further enhance CAMP resistance⁵⁸.

In addition to LPS, phospholipids are the other major component of the Gram-negative outer membrane. Similar to LPS, phospholipids in the outer membrane can also be modified to increase CAMP resistance (**Figure 1.1D**). *S. typhimurium* uses its PhoPQ system to not only modify LPS, but also to modify phospholipids that reside in the outer membrane. PhoPQ-activated PagP adds palmitoyl groups to phospholipids, similar to its modification of lipid A described above. This leads to an increase in the levels of palmitoylated phosphatidylglycerols within the outer leaflet of the outer membrane, which are less polar and more hydrophobic than many other phospholipids in the outer membrane. Increased hydrophobicity in the outer membrane may decrease permeability, similar to the effect in lipid A palmityolation ⁵⁹. Therefore, localizing these modified phospholipids to the outer leaflet of the membrane results in increased CAMP resistance.

In addition, the inner membrane may be modified to increase CAMP resistance. Addition of lysine to phospholipids (lysylation) within the plasma membrane increases the charge of anionic phosphatidylglycerol to a cationic form, and thus is able to help repel cationic CAMPs and reduce their binding to the membrane. Though best studied in Staphylococcus aureus, these lysylated phospholipids are also present in Gram-negative species⁶⁰ including *Rhizobium tropici*⁶¹ and *Caulobacter crescentus*⁶².

It has also been suggested that the PagP protein mentioned above may act as part of an acute membrane repair response, facilitating rapid membrane repair after damage caused by CAMPs⁵⁹. In addition, it has been hypothesized that one of the reasons that CAMPs do not efficiently damage eukaryotic host membranes is that eukaryotic cells have a much more robust form of membrane repair than bacteria⁶³. Thus it is possible that bacteria with increased membrane repair capacity could survive higher concentrations of CAMPs, simply repairing the membrane as it is damaged. Dorschner et al suggest that proteins involved in membrane repair are prime candidates for investigation of microbial resistance⁶⁴. There is still a lack of concrete evidence demonstrating that this occurs, but membrane repair may be an important facet of CAMP resistance and warrants further investigation.

Beyond alterations to the bacterial membranes, the outer surface of bacteria can be further modified to protect against CAMPs. The bacterial capsule is a protective layer external to the outer membrane that acts as an additional barrier and is comprised primarily of long chained repeating polysaccharides⁶⁵. *Klebsiella pneumoniae* capsule provides increased resistance against cationic defensins, lactoferrins and polymyxins. Furthermore, there is a direct correlation between higher amounts of capsular polysaccharide, decreased levels of CAMPs binding to the outer membrane, and increased resistance to polymyxins⁶⁶. Capsule-mediated resistance to CAMPs is likely critical for bacterial virulence during *in vivo* infection as an acapsular mutant was unable to cause pneumonia in a mouse model⁶⁷. It should be noted, however, that the capsule can provide resistance to other immune pressures in addition to CAMPs, such as complement and phagocytosis, and thus the attenuation of the acapsular mutant is not necessarily due to a decrease in CAMP resistance. In *Neisseria meningitidis*, capsule production was shown to increase resistance to the human CAMP LL- 37^{68} . Survival in the presence of LL-37 was 100-fold lower in a deletion strain lacking capsule compared to wild-type. Furthermore, upon exposure to sublethal levels of LL-37, the capsule biosynthetic genes *siaC* and *siaD* were upregulated and contributed to increased capsule production⁶⁸.

In addition to those mentioned above, numerous Gram-negative species express a polysaccharide capsule. Further, *P. aeruginosa* has also been shown to use its capsule to resist CAMPs⁶⁹. Taken together, the data described here illustrate how Gram-negative pathogens can use numerous modifications to LPS, phospholipids, and the production of a polysaccharide capsule to resist CAMPs and protect their membranes.

Biofilm production

Bacteria can further resist CAMPs through their organization into specialized structures known as biofilms. In addition to free floating, planktonic bacterial populations, bacteria can form biofilms on diverse surfaces. These structures consist of sessile bacteria adhering to a surface in a highly organized manner that allows for circulation of nutrients⁷⁰. Bacteria in a biofilm often secrete a slimy extracellular matrix that both aids in adherence to surfaces and acts as a barrier to outside stressors. This extracellular matrix can be composed of various compounds including cellulose, teichoic acids, proteins, lipids and nucleic acids⁷¹. Biofilms can form on environmental surfaces such as hospital equipment, allowing these populations to persist, and likely contributing to the growing problem of hospital-acquired infections. They can even form on ventilators and catheters, giving them access to mucosal sites in patients and further promoting their infectivity. Biofilms are also able to form on biological surfaces such as teeth or the respiratory tract, often facilitating the establishment of chronic infections⁷⁰.

The general organization of the bacteria and extracellular components contributes to the protection offered by the biofilm structure. As a biofilm matures, it progresses from a thin homogeneous structure to a thicker, more heterogeneous form that contains many substructures. These can include stacks of bacteria forming "mushroom" shaped structures⁷². This is observed in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, which forms biofilms that display exceptional resistance to CAMPs and antibiotics, in some cases over 1,000 times as great as their planktonic form⁷³. *Pseudomonas* biofilms contain a high level of the polysaccharide alginate, which is known to cause significant alterations to biofilm structure. A strain that overproduces alginate formed biofilms that were much thicker and more structurally heterogeneous, an architecture that acts as a more effective diffusion barrier to CAMPs⁷⁴. Additionally, expression of *Pseudomonas* biofilm genes in *E. coli*, whose biofilms are normally flat and unstructured, resulted in the formation of biofilms with more complex architecture, correlating with increased resistance to the polymyxin antibiotic colistin. This increased resistance was not observed against other antibiotics such as ciprofloxacin, indicating that this protection may be specific to CAMPs⁷⁵. Biofilm structure can vary greatly across different species and strains, which may account for some of the differences in CAMP susceptibility in various biofilms.

Specific components of the extracellular matrix have been shown to be critical for resistance to CAMPs. Anionic alginate in *P. aeruginosa* not only contributes to biofilm structure but can also bind to and induce conformational changes in invading CAMPs⁷⁶. The CAMP-alginate complexes then oligomerize, hindering their ability to enter the biofilm⁷⁷. Further, polysaccharides from biofilms of *K. pneumoniae* and *Burkholderia pyrrocinia* are able to bind

and sequester CAMPs⁷⁸. Adding these polysaccharides to *E. coli* increased its MIC to CAMPs LL-37, human beta defensin 3, and Bac7(1-35). Extracellular DNA also forms an integral component of *P. aeruginosa*⁷⁹ and *S. typhimurium*⁸⁰ biofilms, and can also contribute to CAMP resistance. The negative charge of DNA allows it to bind and sequester cations from the surrounding environment. This results in an environment with a low concentration of cations, which is an activating signal for the previously mentioned PhoPQ system. This therefore results in the activation of CAMP resistance genes via PhoPQ that lead to LPS and other modifications⁷⁹.

In addition to signaling by PhoPQ, biofilms have several other inducible defenses against CAMPs. *P. aeruginosa* encodes the inducible biofilm gene *psrA*, which has been linked with greatly increased levels of CAMP resistance⁸¹. This gene was upregulated 3-fold in the presence of the CAMP indolicidin. Deletion mutants lacking *psrA* were less able to form biofilms, and showed significantly increased killing when challenged with indolicidin or polymyxin B. Pamp et al have shown that tolerance to colistin in *Pseudomonas* biofilms is due to metabolically active cells within the biofilm. While the less metabolically active cells in the biofilm were killed by colistin, a spatially distinct subset of more active cells were able to resist killing. These cells were able to upregulate PmrAB-regulated resistance genes responsible for lipid A modification⁸². Overall, biofilms confer bacteria with the ability to form a hardy structure that can withstand and resist destruction by high concentrations of CAMPs, as well as many other types of antimicrobials.

Efflux Pumps

Efflux pumps are complexes of mostly membrane bound proteins that move toxic compounds out of cells. Bacterial efflux pumps are active transporters, either directly requiring ATP or using an existing electrochemical potential gradient. These complexes play important roles in antibiotic resistance, as many bacteria use them to resist major classes of antibiotics, including fluoroquinolones, macrolides, tetracyclines, glycylcyclines, beta lactams and aminoglycosides⁸³. In addition, bacterial efflux pumps contribute to colonization and persistence, likely in part by defending against host antimicrobials such as CAMPs⁸⁴. Indeed, there are many examples of Gram-negative bacteria that use efflux pumps to increase survival and virulence *in vivo* even in the absence of antibiotics including *Salmonella typhimurium*^{85,86}, *Salmonella enteritidis*⁸⁷, *Enterobacter cloacae*⁸⁸, *Borrelia burgdorferi*⁸⁹, *P. aeruginosa*⁹⁰, *K. pneumoniae*⁹¹, *V. cholerae*⁹² and *N. gonnorhoeae*⁹³.

In addition to other resistance mechanisms described above, *K. pneumoniae* uses the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump system, known to mediate resistance against fluoroquinolones, to resist CAMPs. When the AcrB component of the efflux pump system was knocked out, mutant bacteria exhibited increased sensitivity to fluoroquinolones as well as polymyxin B⁹¹. The *acrB* mutant also exhibited 10-fold lower survival in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid, which contains many CAMPs, and specifically displayed increased sensitivity to the human alpha defensin HNP-1 as well as human beta defensins HBD-1 and HBD-2. Importantly, this increased susceptibility correlated with a 1-3 log attenuation of the mutant in a mouse pneumonia model⁹¹.

Another pathogen that expresses efflux pumps to increase CAMP resistance is *Yersinia enterocolitica*. A human gut pathogen, *Y. enterocolitica* has a high level of resistance to human CAMPs, at least in part due to the action of the RosAB efflux pump system. A *rosAB* deletion mutant was more sensitive than wild-type to the CAMPs polymyxin B, cecropin P1 (produced in pig bladders) and melittin (found in bee venom)⁹⁴. This pump acts as a potassium antiporter, using a potassium gradient that pumps K^+ ions into the cell as it pumps out harmful CAMPs. Interestingly, the RosAB pump is activated at 37°C and in the presence of CAMPs, similar to conditions encountered within the host during infection⁹⁴. Under these conditions, pathogenic *Y*. *enterocolitica* strains are more resistant to CAMPs than non-pathogenic strains or a control *E*. *coli* strain⁹⁵. While this was not explicitly shown to be due to the RosAB pump and could be due to another temperature regulated system, the data suggest that RosAB-mediated CAMP resistance is likely important for maintaining pathogenicity in *Y. enterocolitica*.

N. gonorrhoeae possess the Mtr (multiple transferrable resistance) efflux pump which facilitates resistance to numerous antimicrobials. This three protein system has been shown to pump out various hydrophobic compounds, such as bile salts and fatty acids, which can cause membrane damage. This pump also confers resistance to CAMPs as well. *mtr* deletion mutants had significant growth defects in the presence of PG-1, a protegrin produced by porcine macrophages⁹⁶, and the MIC of the human CAMP LL-37 and horseshoe crab-derived tachyplesin-1 were also reduced in the *mtr* deletion mutant. Thus, the Mtr efflux pump is able to recognize a variety of CAMP structures and remove them from the bacterial cell ⁹⁶. This efflux pump is highly relevant for *in vivo* survival; gonococci lacking *mtr* were completely outcompeted by the wild type strain in a competitive infection of the mouse genital tract⁹³ and this was correlated with the levels of CAMP resistance *in vitro*⁹⁷. The closely related *Neisseria meningitidis*, which can cause meningitis in humans, also expresses the *mtr* efflux pump and it was similarly shown to contribute to CAMP resistance⁹⁸.

The RND family of efflux pumps in *Vibrio* species has a similar activity in mediating resistance to polymyxins and bile acids. *V. cholerae* has at least six loci that encode RND family

proteins, including the VexB protein which can mediate CAMP resistance. When this protein is deleted from a virulent strain, the mutant bacteria exhibit increased susceptibility to polymyxin B as well as bile acids, which are found in the GI tract that *V. cholerae* infects. Further, this deletion mutant was unable to effectively colonize the gut of mice when compared to the wild-type strain⁹⁹. The closely related *Vibrio vulnificus*, which can cause wound infections and sepsis, encodes a different efflux pump, TykA, which is responsible for resistance to the CAMPs protamine and polymyxin B ¹⁰⁰.

Efflux pumps have been shown to be important for resistance to a wide range of antibiotics and there has been much interest in using efflux pump inhibitors to enhance antibiotic treatment¹⁰¹. However, the extensive evidence that these pumps can enhance CAMP resistance and play a role in virulence suggests that efflux pump inhibitors may also be used therapeutically to sensitize bacteria to innate immune defenses. Inactivating bacterial efflux pumps responsible for CAMP resistance could enhance the ability of the host CAMPs to clear infections, while at the same time increasing sensitivity to antibiotics.

Binding and sequestering CAMPs

When confronted with a large concentration of CAMPs, some bacteria are able to bind and sequester these peptides so they cannot reach the bacterial membrane. One method for binding external CAMPs is through the release of negatively charged molecules that will attract these amphipathic antimicrobials. Negatively charged proteoglycans are found in abundance on the surface of fibroblasts and epithelial cells, and can be cleaved and released by bacterial enzymes at rates that exceed that of baseline release. For example, the connective tissue proteoglycan decorin is one of the major secreted products of human fibroblasts¹⁰², and when incubated with

P. aeruginosa or *P. mirabilis*, it is cleaved to release several products, including dermatan sulphate. This degradation occurs in the presence of bacteria conditioned media, purified *P. aeruginosa* elastase, or alkaline proteinase, even in the absence of fibroblast enzymes. This released dermatan sulphate was able to efficiently bind neutrophil derived α -defensin unlike the full length uncleaved decorin molecule. This free and soluble dermatan sulphate was able to nearly completely inhibit killing by defensins at concentrations 10 times above the MIC for *P. aeruginosa*¹⁰³.

Similarly, *P. aeruginosa* takes advantage of the release of the cell surface heparin sulfate proteoglycan syndecan-1. This proteoglycan is found on the surface of epithelial cells, and is shed during tissue injury as a soluble ectodomain. Incubating epithelial cells with cell culture supernatants from P. aeruginosa led to cleavage of syndecan-1 and release of its soluble ectodomain¹⁰⁴. This activity was found to be dependent on the *P. aeruginosa* protein LasA, which is a known virulence factor and has been previously shown to modify other proteins. Shedded ectodomains of syndecan-1 are able to bind and interfere with the antimicrobial activity of CAMPs, specifically those that are Pro/Arg-rich like cathelicidins¹⁰⁴, likely due to charge based interactions. This was also demonstrated in vivo, with increased syndecan-1 shedding from epithelial cells during *P. aeruginosa* lung infection in a mouse model¹⁰⁵. The virulence of the pathogen was dependent on syndecan-1 shedding, as there was a 3 log decrease in virulence if syndecan-1 was absent or rendered resistant to shedding¹⁰⁵. Syndecan-1 ectodomains not only bind to CAMPs but can also bind and interfere with a range of other immune signaling molecules ¹⁰⁴ such as cytokines and matrix metalloproteases¹⁰⁶. It is not yet known the downstream effect that this binding would have on the greater immune response, but immune modulation in

addition to direct interference with CAMPs may together account for the observed virulence decrease¹⁰⁵.

The fact that proteoglycans are able to interfere with host CAMP activity suggests that the bacterial capsule, which is rich in polysaccharides, may also be able to capture and sequester CAMPs²³. Acapsular mutants often have decreased virulence *in vivo*, and *K. pneumoniae* acapsular mutants are more susceptible to α - and β -defensins⁶⁶. This idea was further strengthened by evidence from Llobet et al, showing that the anionic polysaccharide component (CPS) of the bacterial capsule is able to impart CAMP resistance in *K. pneumoniae* and *P. aeruginosa*⁶⁹. Purified CPS was able to increase the resistance of acapsular mutants, and was shown to bind to soluble CAMPs in a charge-dependent manner. This resulted in fewer peptides reaching the surface of the bacteria. After exposure to CAMPs, these anionic polysaccharides are released by the bacteria to bind and sequester the antimicrobials⁶⁹. It is possible that other encapsulated bacteria can use this mechanism to enhance CAMP resistance as well.

Another component that can be released to trap CAMPs is part of the bacterial cell membrane itself, in the form of enclosed vesicles budding off from the surface known as outer membrane vesicles (OMVs). OMV release is a normal part of bacterial cell growth¹⁰⁷ and may be used for a variety of processes such as toxin delivery¹⁰⁸. In *E. coli*, membrane stress, especially from accumulation of proteins in the outer membrane, induces an increase in OMV formation. As the targets of CAMPs are bacterial membranes, CAMPs can be bound and sequestered in these vesicles, diverting them from the membranes of living bacteria. This notion is supported by the fact that mutants that over produce OMVs are 6-fold more resistant to killing by polymyxin B, while a mutant lacking vesicle release was 10-fold more susceptible¹⁰⁹. *Vibrio cholerae* has adapted its OMV response to aid in CAMP resistance as well. In the presence of sublethal

concentrations of polymyxin B, it was noted that OMVs released from the bacteria were larger and had altered protein content¹¹⁰. These OMVs were better able to protect against CAMPs, as co-incubating bacteria with them doubled the level of protection against LL-37 when compared to OMVs produced by bacteria in the absence of polymyxin B. The polymyxin B induced OMVs contained elevated levels of the protein Bap1, which was shown to mediate the increased CAMP protection by binding to but not degrading LL-37. Thus, OMV release can act as an inducible defense against CAMPs that can significantly increase levels of resistance.

Proteolytic Degradation

In addition to mechanisms to block access of CAMPs to bacteria, or pump them out of the cell, direct inactivation of these antimicrobials offers another means by which bacteria can combat them. As summarized below, diverse bacteria produce proteases that degrade CAMPs, an activity that is highly reliant upon the structural motifs of the target peptide. The human CAMP LL-37 is a linear, alpha helical peptide and is thus more susceptible to degradation by proteases than CAMPs with non-linear structures containing disulfide bonds such as defensins¹¹¹. P. *aeruginosa* produces an elastase that is capable of rapidly degrading LL-37 in vitro, with its bactericidal activity completely inactivated within 1 hour¹¹². Structural analysis showed that cleavage occurred at 4 peptide bonds all located within the regions of LL-37 that have bactericidal activity. Further, a Proteus mirabilis proteinase and E. faecalis gelatinase degrade and inactivate LL-37 in vitro, allowing for survival of bacteria in the presence of otherwise lethal doses of this antimicrobial¹¹². In S. typhimurium, the omptin family protease PgtE degrades various alpha-helical CAMPs, including human LL-37 and its murine ortholog CRAMP¹¹³. Strains with deletions of this gene had 2-fold lower MICs to both CAMPs, while overexpression of *pgtE* increased the MIC by 8-fold. Interestingly, *pgtE* expression is regulated by PhoPQ,

highlighting another example of the many CAMP resistance mechanisms controlled by this twocomponent system.

Even though linear CAMPs are quite sensitive to degradation by proteases, they can be shielded and protected by binding to proteins such as extracellular actin. *In vivo*, LL-37 can bind to released actin molecules, preventing the access of degradative proteases while still maintaining its antimicrobial activity¹¹⁴. High levels of extracellular actin were found in areas of cell necrosis, which often occurs at sites of infection ¹¹⁴. Thus, linear CAMPs like LL-37 can be protected and rendered much less vulnerable to proteolytic degradation *in vivo* due to their complexing with other proteins.

Many non-linear CAMPs are more resistant to degradation than linear CAMPs. This is due at least in part to intramolecular disulfide bonds, such as those found in the defensins, which contain a canonical array of 6 disulfide linked cysteines¹¹⁵. These linkages create non-linear tertiary structure that is much more stable in the environment and resistant to protease degradation^{116,117}. However, some bacteria have evolved proteases to degrade even these CAMPs with increased stability. The protein OmpT is another omptin family protease and contributes to CAMP resistance in *E. coli*. Stumpe et al have shown that this outer membrane protein degrades the CAMP protamine¹¹⁸ which is thought to conform to a nonlinear structure involving three disulfide bonds¹¹⁹. Both the OmpT and PgtE omptin proteins are present in *Shigella flexneri* and *Yersinia pestis*, suggesting that these pathogens may also use omptins to degrade CAMPs¹²⁰.

B. cenocepacia has two zinc dependent metalloproteases that have been shown to degrade CAMPs, ZmpA and ZmpB. Each of these proteins can degrade a variety of peptides, including a wide range of CAMPs. These proteins have distinct substrates, as only ZmpA can degrade linear

LL-37, while only ZmpB degrades non-linear human beta defensin-1¹²¹. Other CAMPs like protamine, elafin and SLPI (all of which are non-linear with disulfide bonds) were degraded by both, but they seemed to be digested into different fragments by each protease. These proteases are additionally important for the virulence of *B. cenocepacia*, since deletion mutants of each protease individually results in decreased lung pathology in a mouse infection model^{122,123}.

Along with its previously mentioned proteinase, *P. mirabilis* encodes the virulence factor ZapA that is involved in CAMP degradation. The ZapA protein is a secreted extracellular metalloprotease that is able to degrade a wide variety of targets, including host defense proteins such as immunoglobulins and complement components¹²⁴. It is also able to target host CAMPs, including not only LL-37, but also disulfide bond containing defensin HBD-1. Proteolysis of LL-37 and HBD-1 by ZapA resulted in 6 and 9 fragments respectively, completely inactivating both proteins¹²⁴. Importantly, absence of ZapA in *P. mirabilis* results in a 4 log decrease in bacteria in a mouse urinary tract infection model, suggesting that the degradation of host antimicrobials is vital to the virulence of this pathogen¹²⁵. Many additional examples of bacteria directly degrading (or causing the degradation of) CAMPs likely exist, and presumably make important contributions to *in vivo* virulence.

Bacteria can also take advantage of host enzymes with CAMP-degrading activity. Reduced killing of *P. aeruginosa* by beta defensins in the broncho-alveolar fluid of cystic fibrosis patients has been shown to be due to the release of proteolytic cathepsins from macrophages, which are able to degrade host beta defensins. The release of cathepsins is due at least in part to the release of inflammatory mediators such as IL-13 and IFN- γ , which has been suggested to result from immune activation by LPS from *P. aeruginosa* and other commensal Gram negative bacteria¹²⁶.

Thus, *P. aeruginosa* is able to take advantage of the host immune response, facilitating the release of CAMP degrading enzymes.

Gram-negative pathogens use many diverse mechanisms to resist killing by cationic antimicrobial peptides. Bacteria can alter surface structures to repel CAMPs, establish biofilms to increase resistance, use efflux pumps to pump them out, sequester them, produce proteases to degrade them, or alter immune responses to prevent their induction. Resistance to CAMPs is thought to have a significant negative effect on the ability of the host to prevent and fight bacterial infections, and also threatens the utility of polymyxins in the clinic. Unfortunately, due to their recent increased use, resistance to polymyxins is already on the rise¹⁹. Resistance to host cationic antimicrobials may even be facilitated by resistance to polymyxins. Clinical strains of *A. baumannii* that are polymyxin resistant are significantly more resistant to both LL-37 and lysozyme²⁴. This has also been demonstrated in *Enterobacter cloacae*, where colistin heteroresistant strains are resistant to lysozyme after initial treatment with colistin²⁵. This phenomenon of heteroresistance is a unique and intriguing form of antibiotic resistance yet there is much that is unknown about this important phenotype.

Antibiotic Heteroresistance

Antibiotic resistance is often thought of as an increase in resistance that is homogenous across a population of genetically identical cells. However, resistance to antibiotics can phenotypically vary within isogenic populations.

Heteroresistance as a Form of Phenotypic Resistance

Studies on mechanisms of antibiotic resistance have typically focused on genetic mutations or acquisition of antibiotic resistance genes in distinct clinical isolates of bacteria. Beyond genotypic resistance, there also exist variations in phenotypic resistance among isogenic bacterial cells. Perhaps the best known phenotypic resistance phenomenon is that of persistence, in which a small subpopulation of bacteria that are temporarily quiescent or very slow-growing display increased resistance to a wide range of antibiotics¹²⁷. It is thought that persistence can mediate the relapse of infection after cessation of antibiotic therapy.

A distinct phenomenon is heteroresistance, in which a subpopulation of resistant bacteria (Figure 1.2A) can rapidly replicate in the presence of an antibiotic (Figure 1.2C), while genetically identical susceptible cells are killed). It should be noted that the term "heteroresistance" has also been used to describe mixed populations of genetically distinct bacteria. In some cases these are closely related bacteria exhibiting a point mutation¹²⁸, and in others the term has been used to describe co-infection with two unrelated strains¹²⁹. A more stringent definition is required, and as such we refer here to heteroresistance exhibited by genetically identical subpopulations.

The relevance of heteroresistance has been debated; can the minor subpopulations of resistant bacteria affect treatment outcome? There are numerous examples of vancomycin heteroresistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* and it has been suggested that this may cause vancomycin treatment failure¹³⁰. While some reports suggest that vancomycin heteroresistance can alter treatment outcomes¹³¹ others have found that vancomycin is still effective in treating such strains¹³². Beyond *S. aureus*, few studies have investigated the impact of heteroresistance on the outcome of *in vivo* antibiotic therapy.

Heteroresistance in the Clinic

Heteroresistance has been observed in clinics across the world, in a variety of pathogens and to numerous classes of drugs. In addition to *E. cloacae* and *S. aureus*, heteroresistance has been detected in *Klebsiella, E. coli, Acinetobacter, Pseudomonas* and other species¹³³.

Heteroresistance has been demonstrated not only to colistin and vancomyin, but also to betalactams including carbapenems¹³³. In a study of *E. coli* isolates in southwest China, 3.9% were heteroresistant to meropenem, 17.2% to ertapenem, and 25.0% to imipenem¹³⁴. Additionally, *A. baumannii* isolates from a cohort of Spanish hospitals displayed imipenem heteroresistance (20%) and meropenem heteroresistance $(24\%)^{135}$. Overall, however, the prevalence of cHR to numerous antibiotics and in many pathogens has not been thoroughly studied. This is in part due to the fact that it can be difficult to detect cHR by conventional diagnostics, which are not optimized to detect heteroresistance. Often, resistant subpopulations will be present at a very low level, resulting in a misclassification of the isolate as susceptible in these tests (**Figure 1.2b, d**). If these isolates are then treated with that antibiotic, this may lead to treatment failure due to the unidentified resistant subpopulation.

Mechanisms of Heteroresistance

Often the sources of the resistant subpopulations in heteroresistant isolates are the same genes that confer resistance in conventionally resistant strains. However the mechanism by which a strain maintains both susceptible and resistant subpopulations remains more elusive. In non-clonal forms of heteroresistance, this is often explained by a point mutation within the resistant subpopulation that confers this resistance. In clonal heteroresistance, it is possible that a mechanism of bistability is controlling the variation in resistance across the population. It has



Figure 1.2. Characteristics of heteroresistance to antibiotics suggest possible clinical impact. (A) Infection with heteroresistant strain, green represent susceptible cells, red represents resistant cells. (B) Clinical testing of infecting heteroresistant pathogen is unable to detect resistant subpopulation. (C) Antibiotic treatment occurs without detection of resistant subpopulation. The resistant subpopulation is augmented by antibiotic treatment. (D) Subsequent testing results in decrease in resistant subpopulation due to subculture, and testing does not detect resistant subpopulation. Continued antibiotic therapy will lead to treatment failure.
been shown in an engineered strain of beta-lactam heteroresistant *E. coli* that a growth centric feedback loop allowed for cells within the population to display varying levels of beta-lacmase and thus varying levels of resistance¹³⁶. Additionally, gene duplication may play a role in this variation in resistance across a population. Bacteria can modify their genome by increasing the number of copies of a specific gene; if this happens to be a resistance gene it could lead to a form of heteroresistance where the level of resistance is dependent on the number of copies within each bacterium¹³⁷.

Beyond Antibacterials: Heteroresistance in Other Fields

While heteroresistance has been best characterized in bacteria, this phenomenon exists in other pathogens as well. Infectious species of *Candida* can display heteroresistance to the antifungals amphotericin B and fluconazole¹³⁸. Pathogenic *Cryptococcus* species have been shown to develop heteroresistance to itraconazole, while simultaneously gaining increased virulence and altered morphology¹³⁹. While parasitic pathogens have not been reported to display heteroresistance to antiparasitics, there is one report of heteroresistance to human serum. In *Trypanosoma rhodesiense*, the pathogen responsible for African sleeping sickness, some cells exhibit resistance to serum due to differential expression of a surface glycoprotein, facilitating disease in humans¹⁴⁰.

Phenotypic heterogeneity to chemotherapeutics can also occur in cancer¹⁴¹. Some cancers have been observed to harbor a small population of phenotypically resistant cells exhibiting chromatin modifications, allowing the cells to resist 500 times greater concentrations of chemotherapeutic tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Thus, heteroresistance may explain the resistance of

some cancers to chemotherapeutics when the majority of tumor cells appear to respond to therapy¹⁴².

Taken together, it is clear that heteroresistance is exhibited by both prokaryotic and eukaryotic populations of cells. Evidence suggests that this phenomenon can have a major impact on the outcome of drug therapy, and warrants much greater study. It is of the utmost importance that we investigate the prevalence of this form of resistance across numerous pathogens and cancers, and redefine our diagnostic and treatment methods to adapt to these resistant subpopulations.

In this study, we investigate the phenomenon of heteroresistance to the last line, cationic antimicrobial peptide, colistin. It is concerning that this type of resistance, which is poorly understood, occurs to a last line drug such as colistin. Thus, we sought to determine the possible clinical impact of colistin heteroresistance.

Chapter 2:

Antibiotic failure mediated by resistant subpopulation in *Enterobacter cloacae*

Victor I. Band^{1,2}, Emily K. Crispell^{1,2}, Brooke A. Napier^{1,2}, Carmen M. Herrera³, Greg K.

Tharp⁴, Kranthi Vavikolanu⁵, Jan Pohl⁶, Timothy D Read^{5,7,8}, Steven E. Bosinger^{1,2,4}, M. Stephen Trent³, Eileen M. Burd^{5,7,9}, David S. Weiss^{2,5,7}

Originally published in Nature Microbiology, May 9, 2016, Vol. 1 No. 6

¹Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329, USA ²Emory Vaccine Center, Atlanta, GA 30329, USA

³Department of Infectious Disease, College of Veterinary Medicine, University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia, USA

⁴Non-Human Primate Genomics Core, Yerkes National Primate Research Center, Robert W.

Woodruff Health Sciences Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322, USA

⁵Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of

Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

⁶Biotechnology Core Facility Branch, Centers for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA 30333, USA.

⁷Emory Antibiotic Resistance Center, Atlanta, GA 30329, USA

⁸Department of Human Genetics, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, 30322, USA

⁹Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

Abstract

Antibiotic resistance threatens the delivery of safe and effective healthcare¹¹ and is projected to lead to 10 million annual deaths worldwide by 2050^2 . Further complicating this epidemic are unexplained antibiotic treatment failures caused by bacteria that appear susceptible to an antibiotic³. We describe an *Enterobacter cloacae* isolate harboring a minor subpopulation highly resistant to the last-line antibiotic colistin. This subpopulation is distinct from persisters and became predominant in the presence of colistin, yet returned to baseline after removal of the drug. During murine infection, but in the absence of colistin therapy, specific host innate immune defenses led to an increased frequency of the colistin-resistant subpopulation. This initial pressure by host defenses led to subsequent inefficacy of colistin therapy, which was unable to prevent a lethal infection. Presence of the resistant subpopulation was dependent on the histidine kinase PhoQ, which was required for modification of the outer membrane component lipid A. A genetically distinct *Enterobacter* clinical isolate displayed an even lower frequency colistin-resistant subpopulation that similarly increased during infection. Importantly, this colistin-resistant subpopulation was undetectable by current diagnostic methods once cultured outside the host. These data demonstrate the ability of low frequency bacterial subpopulations to contribute to clinically relevant antibiotic resistance, elucidating an enigmatic cause of antibiotic treatment failure and highlighting the critical need for more sensitive diagnostics.

Results

Multi-drug resistant *Enterobacter* spp. have emerged as an increasing cause of hospital acquired infections¹⁴³⁻¹⁴⁵, with the drug colistin being relied on as a last line treatment^{146,147}. Even colistin resistant strains have emerged recently, further limiting treatment options¹⁴⁸. A

strain of *Enterobacter cloacae* was isolated from a renal transplant recipient²⁵ and was observed to harbor a distinct subpopulation with resistance to colistin, visualized as numerous colonies within the zone of inhibition upon testing by colistin Etest (we refer to the strain as "R/S", to indicate the presence of both resistant and susceptible subpopulations) (Figure 2.1a). This was not observed with either colistin susceptible or resistant (Figure S2.1) clinical strains. Population analysis profile (PAP) of R/S, in which a strain is assayed for survival on agar plates with increasing amounts of antibiotics, revealed a major proportion of bacteria (>90%) susceptible to 1 μ g/mL colistin, and a highly resistant subpopulation, able to withstand at least 500 μ g/mL colistin (Figure 2.1b). This was in contrast to the susceptible strain that was uniformly killed by 1 μ g/mL colistin, and the resistant strain that was uniformly killed by 200 μ g/mL colistin. The proportion of the R/S colistin resistant subpopulation was increased to upwards of 80% upon exposure to colistin (Figure 2.1c). Further analysis revealed that this increase was due to an initial selection against the colistin susceptible population over the first 2 hours of antibiotic exposure, followed by robust replication and expansion of the resistant population in the presence of the drug (Figure 2.1d). Importantly, this suggests that the resistant cells are not persisters, which do not significantly expand in number during antibiotic treatment¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵¹. The increase in the resistant subpopulation was reversible, as subsequent growth after subculture in antibiotic free media led to a return of these cells to pre-treatment levels (Figure 2.1c). This suggests that the resistant subpopulation is not the result of a stable mutation. Furthermore, bacteria from within the zone of inhibition (where antibiotic levels are high) and outside this region (where antibiotic is low or not present) on a colistin Etest plate (Figure 2.1a) exhibited identical levels of susceptible and resistant populations after serial culturing in the absence or presence of colistin (Figure S2.2), suggesting that bacteria from these two growth conditions are



Figure 2.1. A colistin resistant subpopulation increases in frequency during *in vivo* infection. (A) Testing of *E. cloacae* clinical isolate R/S by colistin Etest. Colonies within the zone of inhibition indicate a colistin resistant subpopulation. (B) Population analysis profile of R/S as well as colistin-susceptible and -resistant *E. cloacae* clinical isolates. (C) Percentage of the colistin resistant subpopulation in R/S in antibiotic-free media, after 24 h treatment with 100 µg/mL colistin, and after 8 h subculture of the colistin treated culture in antibiotic free media. "% Colistin resistant" represents the number of CFU in each culture that can grow on media containing 100 µg/mL colistin, as a percentage of the total CFU in the culture. (D) Colistin resistant and total CFU of R/S during 7 h treatment with 100 µg/mL colistin in liquid culture. (E) Pre-infection inoculum (black bar) was used to infect mice, and peritoneal lavage was performed and harvested 24 h later and plated to calculate % colistin resistant CFU. Mice were treated at 8, 14 and 20 h with colistin (grey bar) or PBS (red bar). * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.

identical. Indeed, deep sequencing of R/S grown with and without colistin (conditions in which the resistant population accounted for the vast majority or minority of the total population, respectively, as summarized in **Figure S2.3** revealed identical genomes. Taken together, these data show that a minor antibiotic resistant subpopulation is capable of replicating in the presence of antibiotic, becoming predominant, and mediating resistance to high levels of drug.

To determine whether the increase in the proportion of the resistant subpopulation occurs during antibiotic treatment *in vivo*, we infected mice with R/S and treated with colistin or PBS. In colistin treated mice, we observed a significant increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation of bacteria isolated from the peritoneum (**Figure 2.1e**) and liver (**Figure S2.4**). Surprisingly, there was also a robust increase in the resistant subpopulation during *in vivo* infection in the absence of colistin treatment (**Figure 2.1e**, **Figure S2.4**). By 48 hours, the percentage of the resistant subpopulation increased from <10% to >80% (**Figure S2.5**). These results highlight the process of infection as leading to a significant increase in the frequency of an antibiotic resistant subpopulation of bacteria.

Various host pressures could be responsible for the increase in the colistin resistant subpopulation during infection. As macrophages are a major component of the early immune response¹⁵², we tested their role by depleting these cells with clodronate liposomes¹⁵³ (**Figure S2.6**) and subsequently infecting mice with R/S. In contrast to bacteria recovered from mice treated with control liposomes, which demonstrated a robust increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation, those recovered from macrophage-depleted mice showed no such increase (**Figure 2.2a**). Based on these results, we next determined whether macrophages were sufficient to cause the increase in the resistant subpopulation, by infecting them *in vitro*. During



Figure 2.2. Innate immune host defenses are required for the increased frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation during infection. (A) Mice pre-treated with PBS liposomes (as a control; grey) or clodronate liposomes (to deplete macrophages; red) were infected with R/S (pre-infection; black). After 8 h, peritoneal lavage fluid was harvested and plated to calculate % colistin resistance. (B) Murine bone marrow-derived macrophages were untreated or pretreated with cytochalasin D, infected with R/S, and % colistin resistance was calculated at the indicated timepoints. (C-E) R/S was either untreated or treated with the indicated amounts of (C) H₂O₂, (D) lysozyme, or (E) CRAMP for 5 h, and % colistin resistance was calculated. (F) Wild-type (WT; grey) or triple knockout (TKO; red) mice lacking the gp91 subunit of the NADPH oxidase, lysozyme, and CRAMP were infected with R/S (pre-infection; black). At 8 h postinfection, peritoneal lavage fluid was harvested and plated to calculate % colistin resistance. Data is compiled from two independent experiments. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01. macrophage infection, the colistin resistant subpopulation increased to 40% within only 2 hours (**Figure 2.2b**). Furthermore, this rise was dependent on internalization of the bacteria, since preventing phagocytosis with cytochalasin D abrogated this phenomenon (**Figure 2.2b**). Therefore, macrophages are both required and sufficient for the increased frequency of the resistant subpopulation during infection, underlining a role for a specific innate immune cell type in this process.

Macrophages possess many antibacterials¹⁵⁴ and we hypothesized that specific components would be required for the increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation, testing reactive oxygen species (formed after treatment with hydrogen peroxide), lysozyme, and the murine cationic antimicrobial peptide CRAMP. All of these antibacterials resulted in a dosedependent increase in the frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation in vitro (Figure 2.2ce), as did LL-37, the human ortholog of CRAMP (Figure S2.7). These results led us to test whether the antibacterials were responsible for the increase in the resistant subpopulation during in vivo infection. We infected wild-type and triple knockout (TKO) mice lacking a functional NADPH oxidase (which leads to the production of reactive oxygen species¹⁵⁵), lysozyme, and CRAMP. TKO mice were more susceptible to infection by R/S as they harbored over 10-fold more bacteria compared to WT (Figure S2.8), demonstrating the importance of these antimicrobials in host defense. While a robust increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation was observed in wild-type mice, this was abrogated in TKO mice (Figure 2.2f). The frequency of the resistant subpopulation in mice lacking one of these three antimicrobials was not significantly different from that in wild-type mice, while it was decreased in double KO mice lacking the NADPH oxidase and CRAMP or lysozyme (Figure S2.9). These data identify a role for specific host innate immune antibacterials in the increase of an antibiotic resistant subpopulation during *in vivo* infection.

To determine the relevance of the increase in frequency of the resistant subpopulation during *in vivo* infection, we tested whether the R/S strain was able to resist colistin treatment. We infected mice with either R/S or a colistin susceptible strain, and treated the mice with PBS (as a control) or high doses of colistin after establishment of infection to simulate the progression of infection and treatment in the clinic. The levels of the susceptible strain in the peritoneum (**Figure 2.3a**) and liver (**Figure 2.3b**) were significantly reduced by colistin treatment. In contrast, the R/S strain was refractory to treatment with colistin as its levels were unchanged between the treated and untreated groups (**Figure 2.3a-b**). In a timecourse experiment, the level of the susceptible strain was reduced by 3 logs at 42 hours, whereas the level of the R/S strain was not diminished by colistin treatment, but instead increased by roughly 10-fold (**Figure S2.10**). These data demonstrate that the presence of the resistant subpopulation results in inefficacy of colistin to reduce bacterial levels *in vivo*. Further, these results provide *in vivo* evidence that the resistant subpopulation does not behave like persisters which do not significantly expand in number during antibiotic treatment.

We next tested whether the role of the host immune system in the increase of the resistant subpopulation was directly responsible for the inefficacy of antibiotic therapy. We first found that colistin treatment of R/S-infected mice could cause a significant reduction in bacterial levels if initiated at the time of infection (prior to the increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation), but not if it was delayed until only 4 hours after infection (**Figure 2.3c**). However, in macrophage-depleted mice, treatment with colistin at 4 hours became effective, leading to a reduction in bacterial levels (**Figure 2.3c**) and indicating that the host-driven



Figure 2.3. R/S is refractory to colistin during infection and leads to colistin treatment failure. (A,B) Mice infected with R/S or the susceptible isolate were treated with colistin at 8, 14 and 20 h. CFU were quantified at 24 h in the (A) peritoneal lavage fluid and (B) liver. (C) Mice pretreated with PBS (first and second panels) or clodronate (third panel) liposomes were infected with R/S and treated with colistin at 0 h (first panel) or 4 h (second and third panels). A second dose of colistin was administered 2 h after the first, and 2 h later peritoneal lavage fluid was plated to enumerate CFU. (D,E) Survival of mice infected with R/S or the colistin susceptible isolate. Mice were treated with colistin or PBS starting at 12 h post infection, with additional doses given every 6 h thereafter. Surviving mice were monitored until day 24. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, n.s. = not significant.

increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation is responsible for the inefficacy of antibiotic treatment.

To further test the relevance of this *in vivo* phenomenon, we infected mice with a lethal dose of bacteria and treated with either PBS or colistin after 12 hours. Both the susceptible and R/S strains led to lethal infections in the absence of colistin (**Figure 2.3d,e**). In the presence of colistin, only mice infected with the susceptible strain were rescued (**Figure 2.3d**), whereas those infected with R/S still succumbed to infection within 100 hours (**Figure 2.3e**). These data demonstrate the impact of an antibiotic resistant subpopulation in mediating a lethal infection in the presence of high dose antibiotic treatment.

We next set out to determine the molecular mechanism underlying the phenotype of the resistant subpopulation. RNAseq analysis was conducted (**Figure S2.3**) to determine whether there were transcriptional differences between the susceptible and resistant subpopulations of R/S. In total this analysis revealed 325 genes upregulated and 360 genes downregulated in the resistant subpopulation as compared to the susceptible subpopulation (see online supplemental material¹⁵⁶). Among the upregulated genes, we noticed a signature associated with the two-component histidine kinase PhoQ^{54,157-163}, which has previously been implicated in polymyxin resistance, in part through its role in modification of the lipid A portion of lipopolysaccharide¹⁶⁴. To validate the RNAseq data, we confirmed that the resistant subpopulation expressed higher levels of the predicted lipid A modification genes *arnB* and *eptA*⁵⁸ (**Figure S2.11**). These data suggested that R/S displayed a modified lipid A profile, which we confirmed by thin layer chromatography (TLC) (**Figure S2.12**). Further, modified lipid A species increased in abundance during growth of R/S in the presence of colistin, consistent with their expression by the resistant subpopulation (**Figure S2.12**). To test whether the lipid A modifications were dependent on

PhoQ, we constructed an R/S deletion mutant lacking phoQ ($\Delta phoQ$). Indeed, lipid A from the $\Delta phoQ$ strain lacked the specific lipid A modifications observed in wild-type R/S that were enhanced in the presence of colistin, which were restored in a phoQ complemented strain (**Figure S2.12**). Thus, the R/S resistant subpopulation exhibits PhoQ-dependent lipid A modifications and is transcriptionally distinct when compared to the susceptible subpopulation.

To interrogate the potential contribution of PhoQ to the R/S resistance phenotype, we examined the collistin resistance profile of $\Delta phoQ$. Strikingly, the $\Delta phoQ$ strain exhibited a complete absence of the resistant subpopulation by Etest, while the susceptible subpopulation remained unaffected, as the border of the zone of clearing was unaltered from that of wild-type R/S (Figure 2.4a). Complementation with *phoQ* restored the presence of the resistant subpopulation (Figure 2.4a). This was also confirmed by PAP, where $\Delta phoO$ lacked the resistant subpopulation present in R/S and behaved similar to the susceptible strain (Figure **2.4b**). Importantly, R/S and $\Delta phoQ$ harbored equivalent levels of persisters, clearly indicating that the colistin resistant subpopulation (which depends on PhoQ) is not made up of persister cells (Figure S2.13). The *phoQ* mutant additionally exhibited no colistin resistant subpopulation after exposure to host antimicrobials (Figure S2.14a), during macrophage infection (Figure S2.14b), or during *in vivo* infection (Figure S2.14c). Without the presence of the resistant subpopulation, $\Delta phoQ$ was susceptible to colistin treatment *in vivo*, exhibiting a significantly decreased bacterial load (Figure 2.4c). Furthermore, the ability of colistin to rescue mice from an otherwise lethal inoculum was restored during infection with $\Delta phoQ$ (Figure 2.4d). Thus, the presence of the colistin resistant subpopulation is dependent on PhoQ, which is required for a lethal drug resistant infection.

The size of the resistant subpopulation can vary greatly between strains, as exemplified



Figure 2.4. PhoQ is required for the colistin resistant subpopulation and treatment failure. (A) Colistin Etests of R/S, $\Delta phoQ$, and the complement (phoQ-comp) strains. Colonies within the zone of inhibition indicate a colistin resistant subpopulation. (B) Population analysis profile of R/S, $\Delta phoQ$, and colistin susceptible and resistant *E. cloacae* strains. (C) Mice infected with R/S or $\Delta phoQ$ were treated with colistin at 8, 14 and 20 h. CFU were quantified at 24 h in the peritoneal lavage fluid. (D) Survival of mice infected with R/S or the colistin susceptible isolate. Mice were treated with colistin or PBS starting at 12 h post infection, with additional doses given every 6 h thereafter. * p < 0.05.

by a distinct *E. cloacae* clinical isolate (termed R/S-lo) which harbors a colistin resistant subpopulation between 0.01 and 0.001% of the total population (Figure 2.5a), over 1,000-fold less prevalent than that of R/S when grown in media without antibiotic. Similar to R/S, the increase of the R/S-lo resistant subpopulation in the presence of colistin (Figure S2.15) was due to initial selection against the susceptible subpopulation followed by expansion of the resistant subpopulation (Figure S2.16). The frequency of the resistant subpopulation was likewise increased by treatment with H₂O₂, lysozyme, CRAMP, and LL-37 (Figure S2.17), during macrophage infection (Figure S2.18), and during *in vivo* infection of mice (Figure S2.19), and was greatly diminished in macrophage-depleted (Figure S2.20) and TKO mice (Figure S2.21). These data revealed that similar to R/S, the frequency of the resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo is increased by colistin as well as the activity of specific host innate immune components. During *in vivo* infection, while the levels of a susceptible strain were significantly reduced by colistin treatment, the levels of R/S-lo were unaffected (Figure S2.22). These data directly correlated with a failure of colistin therapy to rescue R/S-lo infected mice from a lethal infection (Figure **2.5c**), whereas mice infected with a susceptible strain were completely rescued (Figure 2.5b). Importantly, unlike R/S, R/S-lo was clinically classified as being susceptible to colistin, as the resistant subpopulation (present at a frequency of only 1 in 10,000 CFU) was not detected by Etest (Figure 2.5d). Therefore, this seemingly colistin susceptible strain, harboring an undetected resistant subpopulation, is capable of causing an antibiotic resistant and lethal infection *in vivo*.

It is worrisome that R/S-lo was not identified as colistin resistant, and we wondered whether the resistant population could be detected by diagnostic testing when it is more frequent during host infection. We directly plated peritoneal lavage samples from infected mice in the



(legend for figure on previous page)

Figure 5. Clinical isolate harboring an undetected colistin resistant subpopulation causes a lethal, antibiotic resistant infection. (A) Population analysis profile of *E. cloacae* clinical isolate R/S-lo compared to R/S and the colistin susceptible and resistant isolates. (B-C) Infection of mice with (B) the colistin susceptible isolate or (C) R/S-lo with or without colistin treatment every 6 h and initiated 12 h post infection. Surviving mice were monitored until day 24. (D-F) Colistin Etest of R/S-lo from (D) pre-infection inoculum, (E) peritoneal lavage sample from a mouse infected for 8 h and (F) the peritoneal lavage sample subcultured overnight in drug-free media. Colonies in the zone of inhibition (e, red arrows) indicate resistant bacteria. Images representative of 5 individual samples are shown. (G) The samples from (D-F) were plated to determine % colistin resistance.

absence of subculture, and were able to detect the R/S-lo resistant subpopulation by Etest, as indicated by colonies within the zone of inhibition (Figure 2.5e, g). In contrast, when these samples were processed by the clinical microbiology laboratory (as would occur with a sample from a human patient, and including a critical subculture step), Etest could no longer detect the diminished resistant subpopulation (Figure 2.5f, g). Strikingly, these data reveal how and when detection of the resistant subpopulation can be missed during routine diagnostic testing, and how this can translate into an unexplained failure of antibiotic therapy.

Discussion

The findings presented here highlight the role of a minor colistin resistant bacterial subpopulation in mediating antibiotic treatment failure *in vivo*. This resistant subpopulation is genetically identical to the susceptible subpopulation, but exhibits differences in gene expression

and lipid A modification. Furthermore, the presence of this resistant subpopulation is dependent on the histidine kinase PhoQ. The data also highlight an unexpected role for specific host innate immune components (lysozyme, CRAMP and H_2O_2) in the increase of the antibiotic resistant subpopulation during infection. The increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation induced by host immune pressure *in vivo* was shown to be critical for eventual failure of colistin therapy.

Like bacterial persistence, the phenotypic resistance phenomenon we describe involves a resistant subpopulation, but there are important differences. Persistence involves a small subpopulation of bacteria that are tolerant to a drug due to a state of low metabolic activity, with no or limited replication¹⁶⁵. Wakamoto et al showed that in some cases persisters can replicate, although it is at a very low rate, and is insufficient to cause an overall increase in the numbers of the population¹⁴⁹. In contrast, we describe a resistant subpopulation that rapidly replicates both *in vitro* and *in vivo* in the presence of antibiotic, and leads to a very significant overall increase in bacterial population level (Figure 2.1d, Figure S2.10). Further, we directly show that the PhoQdependent colistin resistant subpopulation is distinct from persisters, which are also present but independent of PhoQ (Figure S2.13). Several papers have recently demonstrated the importance of persisters as a reservoir of infection during antibiotic treatment *in vivo*¹⁵⁰, which can continue to replicate after treatment has been stopped, leading to relapse¹⁵¹. In contrast, we demonstrate that the colistin resistant subpopulation described here facilitates bacterial growth and subsequent host lethality even in the presence of antibiotic. Persistence has also been linked to immune pressure, as bacteria within macrophages can have increased numbers of persisters¹⁶⁶. We observe a similar link, as both in vitro and in vivo, specific host antimicrobials lead to an increased frequency of the resistant subpopulation. Taken together, both persisters and the

resistant subpopulation described here highlight the ability of a minority of a bacterial population to exert a striking effect on the outcome of infection and antibiotic treatment. While persisters are kept at bay by antibiotic treatment and form a reservoir that can cause relapse, the colistin resistant subpopulation described here has the ability to cause acute infection and lethality during the course of antibiotic treatment.

We propose to refer to the phenomenon described here as clonal heteroresistance. The phenomenon of heteroresistance, in which a resistant subpopulation exhibits an increased level of antibiotic resistance relative to the larger susceptible subpopulation, was described as far back as 1947¹⁶⁷. However, its relevance to infection and resistance has remained unclear, and even its definition has been debated. We use the term clonal heteroresistance to distinguish the phenomenon we describe from the blanket term heteroresistance which is often used to refer to mixed populations of genetically distinct bacteria^{133,168-170}. We show that clonal heteroresistance, in addition to mediating lethal infection in the presence of antibiotic, can also go undetected and cause unexplained treatment failure during *in vivo* infection (**Figure S2.23**). Current widely used methods of antibiotic susceptibility testing rely on *in vitro* culture and analysis. Our data show that these methods can greatly alter results and present an inaccurate picture of the level of *in vivo* resistance. Our findings highlight both a need and opportunity for improved diagnostics to detect antibiotic resistant subpopulations and ultimately prevent such treatment failures.

Methods

Bacterial strains

E. cloacae strain R/S was isolated from a blood sample from a renal transplant recipient at Emory University Hospital (Atlanta, GA). *E. cloacae* R/S-lo, the colistin susceptible strain

Mu819, and the colistin resistant strain Mu117 were isolated from urine samples from patients at other Atlanta, GA hospitals.

Bacterial culture

All bacterial strains were streaked on Mueller-Hinton (MH) agar plates and grown in MH medium at 37°C in a shaking incubator from a single colony before each experiment. Colony forming units (CFU) were determined by plating dilutions on MH agar plates incubated at 37°C and then counting bacterial colonies at the lowest distinguishable dilution.

Bacterial genetics

To generate strain $\Delta phoQ$, 600-700bp upstream and downstream fragments of the genomic region surrounding *phoQ* were PCR amplified with primers 81 and 118, and 82 and 119, respectively (Table S3) and fused with the hygromycin resistance cassette HmR amplified from vector pMQ310 with primers 79 and 80¹⁷¹ using SOE PCR¹⁷². The suicide vector pEXR6K was generated by replacing the pMB1 ori from PCR linearized plasmid pEX100T¹⁷³ using primers 110 and 111 with the R6K ori amplified from plasmid pMQ310 with primers 108 and 109 using the Gibson Assembly Cloning Kit (Invitrogen). The HmR construct was inserted into SmaI (New England Biolabs) digested pEXR6K by Gibson assembly and the resulting plasmid was transformed to strain R/S by electroporation. Transformants were selected on MH agar containing 150µg/mL hygromycin (Sigma) then passaged to LB agar containing 20% sucrose and no NaCl to counterselect for vector loss. Chromosomal replacement of *phoQ* with the hygromycin marker was confirmed by Sanger sequencing. To generate strain *phoQ*-comp, the promoter region of the *phoPQ* operon was amplified with primers 142 and 143 and fused by SOE PCR to gene *phoQ* amplified with primers 144 and 145. The resulting construct was inserted to plasmid pBAV-1K-T5-GFP¹⁷⁴ PCR linearized with primers 146 and 147 to create the

complementation vector. The vector was transformed to strain $\Delta phoQ$ by electroporation and selected on MH agar containing 90 µg/mL kanamycin (Sigma).

Antibiotic susceptibility testing

Colistin susceptibility of all strains was determined using the Etest method. Briefly, the inoculum was prepared from colonies grown on a 5% sheep blood agar plate (Remel, Lenexa, KS) for 18 hours. Several colonies were suspended in 0.9% sterile saline (Remel) and adjusted to a concentration equivalent to a 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard. The suspension was used to streak a 100mm diameter MH agar plate and the Etest strip (bioMérieux, Marcy-l'Étoile, France) was placed. The plate was incubated at 35°C for 20 hours and the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) was read where inhibition of growth intersected the Etest strip. Small colonies that grew within the zone of inhibition were included in the MIC determination. Etest analyses of samples from mouse infections were plated directly from peritoneal lavage samples without subculturing. Population analysis profiles were performed by growing bacteria to midlog phase, and then plating on MH agar containing various concentrations of colistin. Percentage colistin resistance was calculated as the number of bacteria that grew on 100µg/mL colistin divided by the number of bacteria that grew on MH alone.

Mice

Wild-type C57BL/6J mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories (Bar, Harbor, ME) and used at age 8-10 weeks, all experiments using age- and sex-matched mice. Triple knockout (TKO) mice deficient in the gp91 component of the NADPH oxidase, lysozyme, and CRAMP, as well as double knockout mice lacking two of the indicated antimicrobials, were derived by crossing *cybb*^{-/-} (gp91; from Jackson Laboratories), *lysM*^{-/-} (lysozyme; generously provided by Dr. Daniel Portnoy, UC Berkeley), and *cnlp*^{-/-} (CRAMP; Jackson Laboratories) mice. TKO mice were investigated for health defects by histology and bacterial culture of various organs, with no overt health differences seen in uninfected TKO mice when compared to wild-type. Mice were housed under specific-pathogen free conditions in filter-top cages at Yerkes National Primate Center, Emory University, and provided food and water ad libitum. All experimental procedures were approved by the Emory University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

Mouse infections

 \sim 5x10⁷ CFU were administered per mouse for infections to quantify bacterial load; \sim 2x10⁸ CFU were administered for survival experiments. Bacterial inocula were suspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and 100uL was inoculated intraperitoneally (i.p.) to each mouse. Colistin methanesulfonate was injected i.p. in 100uL PBS at a dosage of 10mg/kg/dose. Mice were monitored by weight, and were sacrificed if found to be below 80% starting weight, as mandated by IACUC protocol. Mice were sacrificed and liver, spleen and peritoneal lavage samples were collected into sterile PBS. Solid organ samples were homogenized using a tissue-tearor (BioSpec, Bartlesville, OK), and then all samples were plated for CFU and % colistin resistance.

Macrophage depletion

Macrophages were depleted from mice using clodronate liposomes (clodronateliposomes.com, Haarlem, Netherlands). Mice were injected with 200µL liposomes i.p. 3 days prior to infection, and then injected again with 100µL liposomes i.v. 1 day prior to infection. Mice were infected i.p. for 8 hours before peritoneal lavage fluid was harvested and plated for CFU. Part of this sample was also used for flow cytometry to confirm macrophage depletion.

Macrophage infection

Macrophages were derived from the bone marrow of mice. Briefly, femurs from mice were removed and whole bone marrow was flushed out. The bone marrow cells were grown in media containing Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) which induces the differentiation and growth of macrophages. After confluent layers of macrophages were derived, cells were plated into 24 well plates at $3x10^5$ cells per well. Bacteria were added to the wells at $3x10^6$ CFU per well for a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10:1. Plates were centrifuged to synchronize the infection. After 30 minutes, the macrophages were washed and 100μ g/mL of gentamicin was added to the media to remove and prevent growth of extracellular bacteria. At 1, 2, and 4 hours post infection, macrophages were incubated with 1% saponin in PBS for 2 minutes to lyse open cells and remove bacteria. Samples were then plated for CFU and % colistin resistance calculated. To prevent internalization of bacteria, some wells were pretreated with 1 μ g/mL of cytochalasin D for 30 minutes before addition of bacteria.

Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using Prism 5 (Graphpad Software). Significance of mouse experiments was determined with the Mann Whitney test, while all *in vitro* experiments were analyzed using the two-tailed student's t-test. All experiments were repeated at least 2-3 times (and up to 10 times).

Flow cytometry

Peritoneal lavage fluid was stained with F4/80-PE/Cy7 (BM8) (Biolegend, San Diego, CA) and CD11b-APC/A700 (M1I70) (eBioscience, San Diego, CA) antibodies for 35 minutes. Red blood cells were lysed with RBC lysis buffer (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ) for 5 minutes. Cells were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde and analyzed on an LSRII flow cytometer (BD). Macrophages were defined as F4/80+CD11b+ cells.

DNA and RNA Isolation

An overnight liquid culture of RS grown at 37°C in MH broth was back diluted in triplicate to either fresh MH broth or MH broth containing 100µg/mL colistin to enrich for susceptible or colistin resistant bacteria, respectively. Cultures were grown to exponential phase at 37°C and harvested for DNA and RNA isolation. CFU were calculated as above. DNA was isolated using the DNEasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen) following the Gram negative bacteria protocol with RNAse treatment. RNA was isolated using a modified phase extraction method¹⁷⁵ with initial incubation in TriReagent (Zymo) followed by phase separation with chloroform. RNA was precipitated from the aqueous phase with isopropanol and 1.2M NaCl at 4°C and further purified with the Directzol RNA Kit (Zymo) following the recommended DNase treatment step.

DNA and RNA sequencing

Sample integrities were verified with the Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent). DNA libraries were prepared using the NexteraXT DNA kit (Illumina). For RNA libraries, samples were first depleted of ribosomal RNAs using the Ribo-Zero rRNA Removal Kit (Illumina) and libraries prepared using the EpiCentre ScriptSeq Complete (Bacteria) Low Input kit (Illumina). Next generation short sequence reads were generated with the Illumina HiSeq 1000 platform at the Yerkes National Primate Research Center Nonhuman Primate Genomics Core (http://www.yerkes.emory.edu/nhp_genomics_core/). Long sequence reads were generated with the PacBio II platform using the P5-C3 chemistry at the Duke University Sequencing and Genomic Technologies Shared Resource.

De novo genome assembly and sequence analysis

A hybrid de novo assembly was performed using both Illumina and PacBio data using Celera Assembler version 8.2¹⁷⁶. The sequence data resolved into two contigs, one representing the chromosome and the other representing the plasmid. Quality of the assembly was confirmed by analysis using the ALE tool¹⁷⁷. The assembly was automatically annotated using the NCBI prokaryotic annotation pipeline. Illumina whole shotgun sequences of the samples enriched for colistin resistance (COL) and colistin susceptibility (MH3) were aligned against the assembled genome using bwa-0.7.12¹⁷⁸ and visualized the samtools-1.2 mpileup function¹⁷⁹. Single nucleotide polymorphisms between the assembled genome and short sequence reads were manually analyzed to determine sequence conservation between COL and MH3 samples (Table S4).

RNAseq analysis

Single end Illumina libraries from reverse-transcribed RNA were mapped against the Enterobacter de novo assembled reference using Bowtie2¹⁸⁰. Differential gene expression between the three colistin-treated strains and controls was quantified by the cufflinks/cuffdiff tools in CufflinksVersion 2.2.1^{181,182}. Sequences of differentially expressed genes with significant q-values were analyzed with Blast2Go software version 3.1.3 to identify the *Escherichia coli* gene ortholog and putative function¹⁸³.

Quantitative Reverse Transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR)

RNA was harvested as above. One-step qRT-PCR was performed using the Power SYBR Green RNA-to-C_t kit (Applied Biosystems) with primers (Table S3) on a StepOnePlus Real-time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) according to the manufacturer's instructions. *rpoD* was used as the internal control gene¹⁸⁴. Relative expression was calculated as $2^{-(\Delta Ct) 185}$.

Isolation and analysis of ³²P Lipid A species

E. cloacae strains were grown overnight in MH broth, diluted 1:400 in fresh MH broth containing appropriate selective antibiotics. For induction of resistant phenotype, 100 μ g/ml colistin (Sigma) was used. *Escherichia coli* W3110 and WD101 strains were grown in LB broth overnight followed by a 1:100 dilution in fresh LB medium. After dilutions, cells were immediately labeled with 2.5 μ Ci/ml of inorganic ³²P-phosphate (Perkin Elmer) and harvested at A₆₀₀ 0.5 (*E. cloacae*) or A₆₀₀ 1.0 (*E. coli*). Lipid A extraction, separation and visualization was performed as previously described¹⁸⁶. Briefly, lipid A extraction was carried out by mild acidic hydrolysis and spotted onto silica TLC plate (10,000 cpm/lane). Labeled lipid A species were separated using a solvent mixture of chloroform, pyridine, 88% formic acid and water (50:50:16:5). TLC plate was exposed to a phosphoimager screen and visualized by phosphoimaging analysis (Bio-Rad PMI).

Supplemental Figures





susceptible or (B) resistant E. cloacae clinical isolates.



Figure S2.2. Bacteria from high and low antibiotic growth conditions behave identically after passage. (A) R/S was plated on a colistin Etest plate and bacteria (circled in red) were harvested from within or outside the zone of clearing and assayed for colistin resistant subpopulations. (B,C) Bacteria taken from (B) within the zone of inhibition, representing the colistin resistant subpopulation and (C) outside the zone of inhibition, representing the colistin susceptible subpopulation were cultured. Bacteria were first cultured in drug free media, then subcultured in $100\mu g/mL$ colistin containing media, and then subcultured in drug free media again, with samples taken from each culture to assess colistin resistant subpopulations.



Figure S2.3. DNA sequencing of susceptible and resistant subpopulations. Flow chart of the procedure for DNA sequencing of the susceptible and resistant subpopulations of R/S. Cultures of R/S were grown in media with or without colistin to induce predominantly resistant or susceptible populations, respectively. If the DNA sequences of the two subpopulations were different, this would be detected as sequence differences when comparing the cultures in which either the susceptible or resistant subpopulation comprised the overwhelming majority of the sample. DNA was isolated from each culture and sequenced via DNAseq analysis. This analysis revealed identical genome sequences between each culture, indicating that the genome sequence of the susceptible and resistant subpopulations are identical. RNA isolated from these cultures revealed significant transcriptome differences between the two subpopulations (see online supplemental material¹⁵⁶).



Figure S2.4. Increase in the frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation in the liver during in vivo infection. An inoculum of strain R/S (black bar) was used to infect mice intraperitoneally. Mice were treated with colistin (grey bar) or PBS (red bar) at 8, 14 and 20 hours. At 24 hours, liver samples were harvested and plated to quantify the number of colistin-resistant and total bacteria. * p < 0.05.



Figure S2.5. Frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation increases during *in vivo* **infection.** (A,B) % colistin resistance of R/S during a 48 hour mouse infection. Bacteria were recovered at each time point from (A) peritoneal lavage or (B) liver samples.



Figure S2.6. Macrophage depletion via clodronate liposomes. Number of macrophages in peritoneal lavage fluid of PBS or clodronate liposome treated mice. Macrophages were defined as CD11b⁺F4/80⁺ cells by flow cytometry. Data compiled from 4 separate experiments. ***, p < 0.001.



Figure S2.7. The human antimicrobial peptide LL-37 leads to an increase in frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation. Strain R/S was treated with the indicated amounts of human LL-37 for 5 hours. Samples were plated to quantify the numbers of total and colistin-resistant bacteria and % colistin resistance was calculated.



Figure S2.8. Increased CFU during infection of mice lacking host antimicrobials. Wild type or triple knockout (TKO) mice lacking LysM, CRAMP and Phox were infected with R/S, and CFU in the liver and peritoneal lavage fluid were quantified at 8 hours post infection. * p < 0.05



Figure S2.9. Infection of mice lacking individual host antimicrobials. The indicated strains of mice, LysM (lysM-/-), CRAMP(cnlp-/-) or Phox(cybb-/-) (A) single knockouts or (B) double knockouts, were infected with R/S for 8 hours, and the % colistin resistance was compared to that of the initial inoculum. * p < 0.05.



Figure S2.10. *In vivo* growth and expansion of R/S during colistin treatment of mice. Wild-type mice were infected with a lethal dose of a susceptible strain (A) or R/S (B) and then given doses of colistin every six hours starting at 12 hours post infection. Mice were sacrificed to determine peritoneal CFU counts at 0, 6, 24 and 42 hours. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01.





Expression of (A) *arnB* and (B) *eptA* lipid A modification genes in R/S grown to exponential phase with or without 100 μ g/ml colistin. * p < 0.05.



Figure S2.12. Lipid A analysis reveals modifications present in resistant subpopulation. (A) Thin layer chromatography separation of lipid A species harvested at exponential phase growth from R/S cultured without (Untreated) or with (+Colistin) colistin pretreatment, the *phoQ* deletion mutant ($\Delta phoQ$), $\Delta phoQ$ complemented with an empty vector (Empty Vector), complemented with *phoQ* (Untreated) or complemented with *phoQ* and then treated with colistin (+Colistin). (B) Thin layer chromatography of reference *E. coli* strains W3110 (unmodified lipid A) and WD101 (modified lipid A) with known lipid A modifications were used as controls¹⁸⁶.


Figure S2.13. Kanamycin persisters in R/S are not dependent on PhoQ. CFU/mL of R/S and $\Delta phoQ$ during treatment with 900 µg/mL kanamycin. The period between 6 and 8 hours with a plateau in killing represents the population of surviving persisters.



Figure S2.14. R/S deficient in PhoQ lacks ability to induce colistin resistant subpopulation. (A) % colistin resistance of R/S and $\Delta phoQ$ after 5 hour treatment with 100uM H₂O₂, 5 mg/mL lysozyme, 5 μ g/mL CRAMP or 10 ug/mL LL-37. (B) % colistin resistance of R/S and $\Delta phoQ$ during macrophage infection at the indicated timepoints. (C) % colistin resistance of R/S and $\Delta phoQ$ after 24 hour mouse infection. No resistant colonies detected (n.d.) for all $\Delta phoQ$ samples.



Figure S2.15. The frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo increases in the presence of drug. % colistin resistant bacteria was calculated for R/S-lo before colistin treatment, after 20 h in 100 µg/mL colistin, and after 8 h drug free subculture.



Figure S2.16. Colistin selects for the colistin resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo. Colistin resistant and total CFU of R/S-lo during 14 h treatment with 100µg/mL colistin in liquid culture.



Figure S2.17. Host antimicrobials lead to an increase in the frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation of R/S-lo. R/S-lo was treated for 5 h with the indicated concentrations of (A) H₂O₂, (B) lysozyme, (C) CRAMP or (D) LL-37 and % colistin resistance was calculated.



Figure S2.18. The frequency of the R/S-lo colistin resistant subpopulation increases in macrophages. Bone marrow-derived macrophages were infected with R/S-lo. % colistin resistance of R/S-lo within macrophages pretreated or untreated with cytochalasin D is shown at each timepoint. * p<0.05.



Figure S2.19. The frequency of the R/S-lo resistant subpopulation increases during mouse infection. (A,B) % colistin resistance of R/S-lo during a 48 hour mouse infection. Bacteria were recovered at each time point from (A) peritoneal lavage or (B) liver samples.



Figure S2.20. Macrophages are required for the increase in the frequency of the R/S-lo resistant subpopulation during infection. Mice pre-treated with PBS (as a control) or clodronate containing liposomes (to deplete macrophages) were infected with R/S-lo. % colistin resistance of R/S-lo recovered in peritoneal lavage fluid after 8 hour infection is shown.



Figure S2.21. Specific host antimicrobials contribute to the increased frequency of the R/S-lo subpopulation *in vivo.* Triple knockout mice (TKO) lacking the NADPH oxidase gp91 subunit (which contributes to superoxide production), lysozyme and CRAMP were infected with R/S-lo. % colistin resistance of R/S-lo recovered in peritoneal lavage fluid after 8 hour infection is shown. * p < 0.05.



Figure S2.22. Inefficacy of colistin in reducing the levels of strain R/S-lo during in vivo infection.

Mice infected with R/S-lo or a susceptible clinical isolate were treated with colistin at 8, 14 and 20 hours. CFU were quantified at 24 hours in the (A) peritoneal lavage fluid and (B) liver. * p < 0.05.



Figure S2.23. Schematic indicating how antibiotic-resistant subpopulations can lead to unexplained clinical treatment failure. Graphic showing how antibiotic resistant subpopulations that are undetected by currently used diagnostic tests, such as that described in R/S-lo, can cause unexplained antibiotic treatment failure.

Chapter 3:

<u>Carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* exhibiting clinically undetected colistin heteroresistance lead to treatment failure in a murine model of infection.</u>

Victor I. Band,^{a,b} Sarah Satola,^{c,d} Eileen M. Burd,^{c,d,e} Monica M. Farley,^{c,d}, Jesse T. Jacob,^{c,d} David S. Weiss^{b,c,d,f,#}

Originally published in *mBio*, March 6, 2018, Vol. 9 No. 2

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia 30329, USA ^a, Emory Vaccine Center, Atlanta, Georgia, USA^b, Emory Antibiotic Resistance Center, Atlanta, Georgia, USA^c, Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, USA^d, Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia, USA^e, Research Service, Atlanta VA Medical Center, Decatur, Georgia, USA^f

Abstract

Antibiotic resistance is a growing crisis and a grave threat to human health. It is projected that antibiotic-resistant infections will lead to 10 million annual deaths worldwide, by the year 2050. Among the most significant threats are carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* (CRE), including carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae (CRKP), which lead to mortality rates as high as 40-50%. Few treatment options are available to treat CRKP, and the polymyxin antibiotic colistin is often the last-line therapy. However, resistance to colistin is increasing. Here, we identify multidrug resistant, carbapenemase positive, CRKP isolates that were classified as susceptible to colistin by clinical diagnostics, yet harbor a minor subpopulation of phenotypically resistant cells. Within these isolates, the resistant subpopulation became predominant after growth in the presence of colistin, but returned to baseline levels after subsequent culture in antibiotic-free media. This indicates that the resistance was phenotypic, rather than due to a genetic mutation, consistent with heteroresistance. Importantly, colistin therapy was unable to rescue mice infected with the heteroresistant strains. These findings demonstrate that colistin heteroresistance may cause in vivo treatment failure during K. pneumoniae infection, threatening the use of colistin as a "last-line" treatment for CRKP. Furthermore, these data sound the alarm for use of caution in interpreting colistin susceptibility test results, as isolates identified as susceptible may in fact resist antibiotic therapy and lead to unexplained treatment failures. This is the first report of colistin heteroresistant K. pneumoniae in the United States. Two distinct isolates each led to colistin treatment failure in an in vivo model of infection. The data are worrisome, especially since the colistin heteroresistance was not detected by current diagnostic tests. As these isolates were carbapenem resistant, clinicians might turn to colistin as a "last-line" therapy for infections caused by such strains, not knowing that they in fact harbor a resistant

subpopulation of cells, potentially leading to treatment failure. Our findings warn that colistin susceptibility testing results may be unreliable due to undetected heteroresistance, and highlight the need for more accurate and sensitive diagnostics.

Introduction

Antibiotic resistance is an increasingly urgent problem, predicted to cause 10 million annual deaths worldwide by the year 2050^2 . Klebsiella spp. including K. pneumoniae are responsible for $\sim 10\%$ of nosocomial infections in the U.S.¹⁸⁷, including urinary tract. bloodstream, and soft tissue infections¹⁸⁸. Carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (CRKP) are one of the carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE), an emerging cause of antibiotic resistant healthcare-associated infections. CRE were listed as one of the most urgent antibiotic resistant threats by the CDC and WHO^{1,15}. In part due to the difficulty of effectively treating infections with CRE, mortality rates can be as high as 40-50%¹⁸⁹. These infections are a worldwide problem, with recent reports indicating that CRE are widespread in the United States¹⁹⁰, Europe¹⁹¹, and China¹⁹². Unfortunately, resistance to "last line" drugs, such as colistin, is emerging in CRKP, and in some cases isolates are resistant to all antibiotics tested¹⁹³. Here, we describe the identification of two multidrug resistant CRKP isolates exhibiting colistin heteroresistance, a phenomenon in which only a minor subpopulation of genetically identical cells are phenotypically resistant. Since the frequency of the resistant subpopulation is exceedingly low in these isolates, they are not detected as being colistin resistant by clinical diagnostic tests.

Results

Two CRKP urine isolates (Mu9 and Mu156) were collected from different patients at Atlanta, Georgia area hospitals as part of the Multi-site Gram-negative Surveillance Initiative (MuGSI), a nationwide surveillance network for CRE hospital isolates. Isolates were grown from single colonies and frozen at -80°C prior to study. Mu9 and Mu156 were confirmed as being genetically distinct by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (using XbaI-digested total DNA and separated by electrophoresis on a Chef DRIII apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) at 200V (6 V/cm) with a 90-s switch time for 23 hours) (data not shown). Both isolates were resistant to nearly all antibiotics tested, including all carbapenems and some aminoglycosides (Table S3.1). PCR for various resistance genes revealed several beta-lactamases in each isolate, including Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase (KPC) in both strains (Table S3.2). Colistin susceptibility testing by broth microdilution¹⁹⁴ in cation adjusted Mueller Hinton (MH) broth (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ), using colistin sulfate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), revealed a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of 0.5 µg/ml and colistin Etest (Biomerieux, France) performed on MH Agar (Remel, San Diego, CA) indicated that both strains were susceptible to colistin (Figure 3.1a). Subsequent examination for susceptibility was performed via population analysis profile (PAP) by plating serial dilutions of bacteria on MH Agar (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ) containing varying concentrations of colistin. PAP revealed the presence of a minor colistin resistant subpopulation in each isolate that actively grew on antibiotic up to a concentration of 100µg/mL. The colistin resistant subpopulation was present at between 1 in 1,000 and 1 in 1,000,000 CFU at doses of colistin ranging from 2 to 100μ g/mL (Figure 3.1b). In contrast, PAP demonstrated that all the cells of a colistin susceptible control isolate, GA65146, were killed by 2µg/mL of colistin (Figure 3.1b).



Figure 3.1. Colistin heteroresistant, carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* harbor clinically undetected resistant subpopulations. (A) Colistin susceptible isolate GA65146 and the colistin heteroresistant isolates Mu9 and Mu156 were assayed for colistin resistance using the Etest (bioMérieux, Durham, NC, USA) method. The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) is represented by the highest concentration along the strip at which bacteria grow. (B) Population analysis profile of GA65146, Mu9, and Mu156. Proportion of total colonies is the number of CFU able to grow at each concentration of colistin on solid media divided by the number growing on media without drug. Heteroresistant isolates exhibit a minor subpopulation that is able to grow on concentrations of colistin above 4µg/mL.

It was concerning that broth microdilution and Etest were unable to detect the colistin resistant subpopulations in these isolates. The recommended incubation time for both tests is 24 hours ^{194,195}. Extension of the incubation time to 48 hours resulted in the accurate identification of resistance by broth microdilution (**Figure S3.1a**), likely because the minor resistant subpopulation had more time to grow out. In contrast, increased incubation time had no effect on Etest results, which remained negative (**Figure S3.1b**).

We next studied the dynamics of the resistant subpopulation following colistin treatment. After treatment with 100µg/mL colistin, the frequency of the resistant subpopulation was significantly increased in each isolate. Subsequent passage in an antibiotic-free medium greatly decreased the frequency of the resistant subpopulation (Figure S3.2), suggesting that this population was phenotypically resistant and not the result of a stable genetic mutation. Additionally, this suggests that there is some disadvantage to maintaining a majority colistin resistant subpopulation. Indeed, it has been previously shown that colistin resistance in K. pneumoniae confers a fitness defect¹⁹⁶. To directly assess whether the resistant and susceptible subpopulations were genetically homogenous, we isolated cultures with majority resistant or susceptible subpopulations by subculturing in media containing 16µg/mL colistin or drug-free media, respectively (Figure S3.3). This resulted in cultures containing >95% colistin resistant cells or >95% colistin susceptible cells (Figure S3.3). We then performed genomic sequencing on both populations using Illumina HiSeq 4000 for a depth of coverage of >1000X, revealing that the resistant and susceptible subpopulations were indeed genetically identical, consistent with heteroresistance.

To investigate the phenotypic differences between the resistant and susceptible subpopulations, we quantified the expression of two genes in the PhoPQ two-component system

pathway which is known to mediate colistin resistance in *K. pneumoniae*. MgrB is a negative regulator of PhoPQ signaling¹⁹⁷ and *mgrB* expression was lower in resistant cells cultured in colistin as compared to susceptible cells grown in drug free media (**Figure S3.4a**). Additionally, expression of *phoP*, which is autoinduced when the PhoPQ system is active¹⁹⁸, was increased in colistin resistant cells of Mu9 as compared to susceptible cells, although this was not observed in Mu156 (**Figure S3.4b**). Taken together, these data are consistent with involvement of the PhoPQ pathway in the resistant subpopulation of both Mu9 and Mu156.

It was unclear whether the minor colistin resistant subpopulations present in these isolates would have an effect on the outcome of colistin treatment during an *in vivo* infection. To assess the *in vivo* relevance of the colistin resistant subpopulations, we used a mouse model of peritonitis. We infected mice (C57BL/6J, Jackson Labs, Bar Harbor, ME) intraperitoneally with a lethal dose $(3 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU})$ of either of the heteroresistant K. pneumoniae isolates, subsequently leaving the mice untreated or treating with colistin after 12 hours (20mg/kg colistin methanesulfonate (Chem Impex, Wood Dale, IL), given intraperitoneally every 6 hours), to simulate infection and subsequent treatment upon clinical presentation. Interestingly, even in the absence of colistin, the frequency of the resistant subpopulation of both heteroresistant isolates increased following 24 hour in vivo infection compared to the inoculum (Figure S3.5). This may be due to cross-resistance of these cells to host innate immune antimicrobials, as has previously been demonstrated¹⁵⁶. We next assessed the impact of heteroresistance on colistin treatment outcome. Mice infected with either of the heteroresistant isolates (Mu9 or Mu156) were unable to survive the infection, even in the presence of colistin (Figure 3.2a, b). In contrast, mice infected with the colistin susceptible strain (GA65146) succumbed to infection in the absence of antibiotic but were rescued by colistin treatment (Figure 3.2c). These data strikingly demonstrate



Figure 3.2. K. pneumoniae isolates lead to *in vivo* colistin treatment failure. (A-C) Mice were infected with the colistin heteroresistant isolates Mu9 (A) or Mu156 (B), or the colistin susceptible isolate GA65146 (C), and then treated with 10 mg/kg colistin every 6 hours starting at 12 hours. Mice were monitored for survival and weight loss and were sacrificed if below 80% starting weight. n = 5 * p < 0.05 (Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon test).

that colistin heteroresistance can lead to in vivo colistin treatment failure in CRKP.

Discussion

This is the first report of colistin heteroresistant *K. pneumoniae* in the U.S. In highly resistant CRE isolates, colistin is a vital "last-line" treatment option. We show here that in a mouse model of infection, colistin heteroresistant CRKP isolates fail colistin therapy. This stresses the need to assess the relevance of colistin heteroresistance on the outcome of colistin therapy in human infection, which has yet to be determined.

When highly resistant CRKP are isolated in the clinic, testing of last line antibiotics identifies crucial treatment options. Colistin heteroresistant isolates such as the ones reported here can be misclassified as colistin susceptible, a 'very major discrepancy' according to FDA susceptibility testing guidelines¹⁹⁹. Subsequent treatment of these isolates with colistin may then lead to unexplained treatment failure, as was demonstrated in our *in vivo* mouse model. Thus, the misclassification of colistin susceptibility status would waste critical time and resources that may lead to further infection complications and patient mortality. Clinical laboratories should consider testing for heteroresistance to colistin if this last-line antibiotic is required for treatment. Unfortunately, the current standard test for heteroresistance, the population analysis profile, is time and labor intensive, and cumbersome for most clinical laboratories to implement. Our findings suggest that broth microdilution with increased incubation time (48 hours) may detect colistin heteroresistance. However, the increased incubation time is a downside in itself, and there is also an increased chance that a culture of susceptible bacteria could become contaminated or that *de novo* mutant cells would have the time necessary to grow out, leading to

inaccurate identification as resistant. Therefore, novel diagnostics that rapidly and accurately detect colistin heteroresistance are needed.

Taken together, these findings serve to sound the alarm about a worrisome and underappreciated phenomenon in CRKP infections, and highlight the need for more sensitive and accurate diagnostics. We suggest that clinical microbiologists and clinicians alike use caution when treating CRKP infections with colistin.

Supplemental Figures

	N	/lu9	Mu1	56
	MIC	S/I/R	MIC	S/I/R
Amikacin	32		32	
Amp/Sulb	>16/8	R	>16/8	R
Ampicillin	>16	R	>16	R
Aztreonam	>16	R	>16	R
Cefazolin	>16	R	>16	R
Cefepime	>16	R	>16	R
Cefotaxime	>32	R	>32	R
Cefoxitin	>16	R	>16	R
Ceftazidime	>16	R	>16	R
Ceftriaxone	>32	R	>32	R
Cefuroxime	>16	R	>16	R
Cephalothin	>16	N/A	>16	N/A
Ciprofloxacin	>2	R	>2	R
Ertapenem	>4	R	>4	R
Gentamicin	≤4	S	≤4	S
Imipenem	>8	R	>8	R
Levofloxacin	>4	R	>4	R
Meropenem	>8	R	>8	R
Nitrofurantoin	>64	N/A	>64	N/A
Pip/Tazo	>64	R	>64	R
Piperacillin	>64	R	>64	R
Tetracycline	8		8	
Tigecycline	<u>≤</u> 2	S	≤2	S
Tobramycin	>6	R	>8	R
Trimeth/Sulfa	>2/38	R	>2/38	R

Table S3.1. Antibiograms of colistin heteroresistant K. pneumoniae isolates. Results of Microscan

(Beckman Coulter, Inc, Brea, CA, USA) antimicrobial susceptibility testing of Mu9 and Mu156. Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) results are listed with the interpretive category (S - susceptible, I - intermediate, R - resistant) as defined by the Clinical & Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Antibiotics designated as N/A have no defined CLSI MIC breakpoints for *K. pneumoniae*.

	Mu9	Mu156
SHV	+	+
TEM	+	+
СТХ	-	-
ΟΧΑ	-	-
CMY	-	-
KPC	+	+
VIM	-	-
IMP	-	-
NDM	-	-

Table S3.2. Beta-lactam resistance genes in *K. pneumoniae* **isolates.** PCR analysis was conducted on Mu9 and Mu156 for 9 common *K. pneumoniae* resistance genes. Positive genes were those that produced a band at the expected size as assayed by PCR.





Heteroresistant *K. pneumoniae* were grown without colistin ("pre-treatment"), then subcultured with 100μ g/mL colistin ("colistin treated"), and then subcultured again without colistin ("drug-free subculture"). The frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation was measured at each step.



Figure S3.1. Increased broth microdilution incubation time facilitates detection of colistin heteroresistance. (A, B) The colistin MIC was determined for heteroresistant *K. pneumoniae* by both broth microdilution (A) and Etest (B) at the recommended 24 hour timepoint or after 48 hour incubation. The dashed line indicates the CLSI breakpoint for resistance to colistin of 4µg/mL(11). n=3.



Figure S3.3. Workflow for genomic and transcriptomic analysis of colistin susceptible and resistant subpopulations. Heteroresistant *K. pneumoniae* were grown in media containing 16ug/mL colistin or drug-free media, resulting in cultures with >95% resistant or susceptible bacteria, respectively. Bacteria from the cultures were subsequently used for DNA sequence comparison and mRNA analysis by qRT-PCR.



Figure S3.4. Expression of PhoPQ pathway genes in susceptible and resistant subpopulations. (A, B) Quantitative real-time PCR analysis of mgrB (A) and phoP (B) expression in resistant and susceptible subpopulations of Mu9 and Mu156. Resistant and susceptible subpopulations were enriched as shown in Figure S2. Relative abundance was calculated by normalizing expression of each gene to the average of two housekeeping genes, 23S and *rpsL*. n=6, * p<0.05, ** p<0.01 (unpaired t-test)



Figure S3.5. Frequency of the resistant subpopulation increases during *in vivo* infection. Mice were infected intraperitoneally with $1x10^8$ CFU of Mu9 or Mu156, treated with PBS or colistin (10mg/kg) at 12 and 18 hours, and then sacrificed at 24 hours. Peritoneal lavage fluid was collected and plated onto drug free media and media containing 16 ug/mL colistin to assess % colistin resistance of the heteroresistant strains. The pre-infection inoculum (input) was plated similarly. n=5, * p <0.05 (Mann-Whitney test).

Chapter 4

Heteroresistance to colistin among carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae: A Multistate Study, 2012-2015

Victor I. Band^{1,2}, Sarah W. Satola^{3,4}, David Hufnagel^{1,2}, Chris Bower^{3,4}, Andrew B. Conley⁵, Eileen M. Burd^{6,7}, Lavanya Rishishwar⁵, Sandra N. Bulens⁸, King I. Jordan⁵, Monica M. Farley^{7,9}, Jesse T. Jacob^{7,9}, David S. Weiss^{1,7,9}

¹Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

²Emory Vaccine Center, Atlanta, GA, USA

³Research Service, Atlanta VA Medical Center, Decatur, Georgia, USA

⁴Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of

Medicine, Atlanta, GA, USA

⁵Center for Bioinformatics and Computational Genomics, Georgia Tech, Atlanta, GA, USA

⁶Emory University Hospital, Atlanta, GA, USA

⁷Emory Antibiotic Resistance Center, Atlanta, GA 30329, USA

⁸Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, GA, USA

⁹Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of

Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia, USA

Abstract

Antibiotic resistance is predicted to cause 10 million annual deaths worldwide by the year 2050 and add \$100 trillion to healthcare costs. This grave problem is further complicated by unexplained failures of antibiotic therapy caused by bacteria that appear susceptible to a given drug. We previously showed that heteroresistance, in which one bacterial strain harbors both a minor resistant subpopulation and a majority susceptible subpopulation, can mediate failure of antibiotic therapy in an *in vivo* infection model and go undetected by current diagnostic tests. Colistin is a critical last-line antibiotic to treat carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* (CRE) and we sought to characterize the extent of colistin heteroresistance within US populations in a retrospective study. We screened 408 CRE isolated between 2012-2015 from 8 US states. Colistin heteroresistance (10.1% of isolates) was more common than "conventional" resistance (7.1%) in which all the cells of a bacterial isolate are phenotypically resistant. Furthermore, among the sample of isolates tested, the frequency of colistin heteroresistance increased from 2012 to 2015, especially among *Enterobacter* isolates. We also revealed that colistin heteroresistant *Klebsiella* are much more common in Georgia than other states surveyed, where a specific strain cluster is prevalent. Alarmingly, the vast majority (93.2%) of the heteroresistant isolates were classified as colistin susceptible by clinical diagnostic testing. When this undetected resistance is taken into account, the overall rate of colistin non-susceptibility among CRE in the US is more than double the level currently detected. Taken together, these data highlight a largely unappreciated crisis in which colistin heteroresistance is prevalent among CRE, overwhelmingly undetected, and may lead to unexplained antibiotic treatment failure in clinical settings.

Introduction

Increasing antibiotic resistance has been recognized as a major health threat by the CDC and WHO^{14,15}. To combat highly resistant bacteria like the carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* (CRE) which cause infections with a ~40% mortality rate¹⁸⁹, clinicians are increasingly turning to drugs of last resort such as the polymyxin antibiotic colistin¹⁶. However, resistance is increasing even to these last-line drugs²⁰⁰⁻²⁰². Further complicating efforts to combat multidrug resistant bacteria are instances of treatment failure of strains classified as susceptible to a given antibiotic. Heteroresistance is an often unrecognized form of resistance in which a strain harbors both a minor antibiotic resistant subpopulation and a majority population of susceptible cells, which was recently shown to mediate colistin treatment failure in an *in vivo* model¹⁵⁶. Furthermore, colistin heteroresistance can go undetected by clinical testing methods, highlighting the potential for clinicians to unknowingly make ineffective treatment decisions¹⁵⁶. Since colistin heteroresistance may pose a significant risk in the clinic and as it is unclear how common this phenotype is in the US, we performed a retrospective study among highly resistant CRE isolates from 8 states between 2012 and 2015.

Results

Four hundred and eight CRE isolates were collected between 2012-2015. Of these, 226 (55%) isolates were from female patients, and 335 (82%) isolates were from patients 50 years of age or older (**Table 4.1**). Isolates were most commonly derived from urine cultures (332, 81%) and blood cultures (57, 14%) (**Table 4.1**). Of the three genera, *Klebsiella* was the most frequently observed (260, 63%) followed by *Enterobacter* (100, 24%) and *Escherichia* (48, 11%) (**Table 4.2**). All of the isolates were resistant to third generation cephalosporins and non-

		Colistin susceptibility by PAP, No. (%)			
	Susceptible	Conventional Resistant	Heteroresistant	Total	p value ^a
Sex					
Female	194 (86)	16 (7)	16 (7)	226	
Male	143 (79)	13 (7)	24 (13)	180	0.0439
Age					
0-9	1 (25)	0 (0)	3 (75)	4	0.0033
10-19	2 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2	1.0000
20-29	14 (88)	2 (13)	0	16	0.3856
30-39	17 (85)	1 (5)	2 (10)	20	1.0000
40-49	27 (93)	1 (3)	1 (3)	29	0.3391
50-59	65 (87)	3 (4)	7 (9)	75	1.0000
60-69	92 (82)	8 (7)	12 (11)	112	0.7120
70-79	72 (87)	9 (11)	2 (2)	83	0.0071
80+	47 (72)	5 (8)	13 (20)	65	0.0056
Culture source					
Urine	275 (83)	24 (7)	34 (10)	333	1.0000
Blood	47 (82)	5 (9)	5 (9)	57	1.0000
Other sterile site	13 (87)	0 (0)	2 (13)	15	0.6561
Total	338	29	41	408	

 Table 4.1 Sex, Age, and Culture Source of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae. ^a p value for % colistin heteroresistance in each

 category, by odds ratio. PAP – population analysis profile

susceptible to at least one carbapenem, as part of their case inclusion criteria. Resistance to the aminoglycoside tobramycin was widespread (264/361, 73%), while lower rates of resistance were exhibited to other aminoglycosides, gentamicin and amikacin (38% and 36%, respectively). The lowest rate of resistance was to tigecycline, as only 1.5% of the isolates were non-susceptible (**Table S4.1**).

Population analysis profile (PAP) of the 408 isolates revealed the rate of colistin heteroresistance to be 10.1% (41/408) (**Table 4.1**). In contrast, 7.1% (29/408) of isolates were classified as exhibiting "conventional" resistance (in which all the cells of the population exhibit resistance). Among this collection of isolates, the rate of colistin heteroresistance was significantly higher in 2015 (15.8%, 24/152) (p=0.0039) than in previous years (9.8%, 4/41 in 2012, 6.2%, 5/81 in 2013, 6.0%, 8/134 in 2014) (**Figure 4.1**). It should be noted that new surveillance sites were added in 2013 and 2014. Excluding these 4 sites, the rate of colistin heteroresistance in 2015 was still significantly increased as compared to prior years (17/118, 14.41%, p = 0.0117) Additionally, even with these sites excluded, colistin heteroresistance was present at slightly higher levels than "conventional" resistance (9.06% heteroresistance, 8.13% conventional resistance). Taken together, these data suggest that colistin heteroresistance is present at a high rate and in fact is observed more frequently than "conventional" colistin resistance among the isolates in this surveillance population.

Among the genera, *Enterobacter* sp. displayed the highest rate of heteroresistance (18%, 18/100, p = 0.0031), followed by *Klebsiella* sp. (8.5%, 22/212) and *E. coli* (2.1%, 1/47). Among *Enterobacter*, the rate of colistin heteroresistance was significantly higher in 2015 (30.0%, 12/40) (p=0.0144) as compared to prior years (1/14 or 7.1% in 2012, 0/14 or 0.0% in 2013, 5/32 or 15.6% in 2014). This is consistent even when surveillance sites added in 2013 and 2014 are

		Colistin susceptibility by PAP, No. (%)				
	Susceptible	Conventional Resistant	Heteroresistant	Total	p valueª	
Genera						
Enterobacter	79 (79)	3 (3)	18 (18)	100	0.0159	
Klebsiella	212 (82)	22 (8)	26 (10)	260	0.4127	
Escherichia	47 (98)	0 (0)	1 (2)	48	0.0453	
State						
Colorado	35 (88)	2 (5)	3 (8)	40	0.7833	
Georgia	101 (80)	8 (6)	17 (13)	126	0.1530	
Maryland	104 (87)	11 (9)	5 (4)	120	0.0107	
Minnesota	49 (88)	3 (5)	4 (9)	56	0.6316	
New Mexico	8 (80)	0 (0)	2 (20)	10	0.2653	
New York	23 (82)	1 (4)	4 (14)	28	0.5085	
Oregon	11 (61)	4 (22)	3 (17)	18	0.4091	
Tennessee	7 (70)	0 (0)	3 (30)	10	0.0687	

 Table 4.2 Genus and State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae. ^a p value for % colistin heteroresistance in each category,

 by odds ratio. PAP – population analysis profile.



Figure 4.1 Rate of Colistin Heteroresistance by Genus, (2012-2015). Rates of total colistin heteroresistant isolates in percent, in each year from 2012-2015. * p <0.05 for positive linear trend from 2012-2015 (Cochran-Armitage Trend test).

excluded (p = 0.0387) (data not shown).

To further examine the concerning increase in the rate of colistin heteroresistance among *Enterobacter*, we analyzed the rate in specific species (as determined by the clinical laboratory). *Enterobacter* isolates from this study could be classified into 5 species including *E. aerogenes* and the species that collectively make up the *Enterobacter cloacae* complex (ECC): *E. cloacae*, *E. asburiae*, *E. kobei*, and *E. ludwigii* ¹⁴³. Of these, *E. cloacae* and *E. aerogenes* were the most common, making up 61% (61/100) and 26% (26/100) of the total *Enterobacter* isolates, respectively (**Table 4.3**). Less common species of *Enterobacter* (designated here as "minority ECC species"), *E. kobei* (6%, 6/100), *E. ludwigii* (2%, 2/100) and *E. asburiae* (5%, 5/100) made

		Colistin susceptibility by PAP, No. (%)				
	Susceptible	Conventional Resistant	Heteroresistant	Total	p valueª	
Enterobacter species	79 (79.0)	3 (3.0)	18 (18.0)	100		
E. aerogenes	23 (88.5)	1 (3.8)	2 (7.7)	26	0.1441	
E. cloacae	53 (86.9)	1 (1.6)	7 (11.5)	61	0.0594	
E. asburiae	1 (20.0)	0 (0)	4 (80.0)	5	0.0034	
E. kobei	2 (33.3)	1 (16.7)	3 (50.0)	6	0.0698	
E. ludwigii	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (100.0)	2	0.0309	
Enterobacter cloacae complex (ECC) ^b	56 (75.7)	2 (2.7)	16 (21.6)	74	0.1441	
Minority ECC species ^c	3 (23.1)	2 (15.4)	9 (69.2)	13	0.0001	

Table 4.3 *Enterobacter* **Species Identification and Colistin Susceptibility.** ^a p value for % colistin heteroresistance in each category, by odds ratio. ^b Includes *E. cloacae*, *E. asburaie*, *E. kobei*, and *E. ludwigii*. ^c Includes *E. asburae*, *E. kobei*, and *E. ludwigii*. PAP – population analysis profile.

up the remaining 13% of isolates. Strikingly, the rate of colistin heteroresistance was highest among these minority ECC species, with heteroresistance observed in 69.2% (9/13) of these isolates, significantly higher than the rates in *E. aerogenes* (7.7%, 2/26) or *E. cloacae* (11.5%, 6/61, p <0.0001) (**Table 4.3**). In fact, despite their relatively infrequent occurrence, minority ECC species comprised 50% of the total colistin heteroresistant *Enterobacter* isolates observed in this study (9/18).

Indeed, the high rate of heteroresistance in minority ECC species may have contributed to the precipitous increase in *Enterobacter* colistin heteroresistance over the course of this study. Between 2012 and 2015, the overall rate of colistin heteroresistance among all *Enterobacter* rose significantly from 7.1% in 2012 to 30% in 2015 (**Figure 4.1**). The incidence of minority ECC species rose from 7.1% (1/14) to 20.0% (5/40), closely mirroring the overall rise in the rate of colistin heteroresistance (**Figure S4.1a**). Thus, these minority ECC species are a concerning source of colistin heteroresistance. In addition, the rate of heteroresistance among *E. cloacae* rose from 2012-2015 (0% to 24%) (**Figure S4.1b**), which also contributed to the rising rate of colistin heteroresistance among the ECC (12.5% to 33.3%) (**Table 4.3**). Importantly, at least one colistin heteroresistant *Enterobacter* isolate was identified in each of the 8 study sites, indicating that *Enterobacter* exhibiting this resistance phenotype are isolated from a wide distribution of geographic sites within the US.

While *Enterobacter* isolates exhibited the highest rate of colistin heteroresistance, *Klebsiella* sp. were the most numerous bacteria in this study and also had the highest overall number of colistin heteroresistant isolates. Of the 22 colistin heteroresistant *Klebsiella* isolates identified, 15 (68%) were from Georgia (**Table 4.3**). While Georgia had a higher rate of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (104/126 (82.5%), p < 0.0001) among its CRE isolates than the other

	Colistin susceptibility by PAP, No. (%)				
	Susceptible	Conventional Resistant	Heteroresistant	Total	p valueª
Klebsiella sp.					
Colorado	14 (82)	2 (12)	1 (6)	17	1.0000
Georgia	82 (78)	8 (8)	15 (14)	105	0.0109
Maryland	81 (86)	10 (11)	3 (3)	94	0.0211
Minnesota	12 (80)	2 (13)	1 (7)	15	1.0000
New Mexico	3 (75)	0 (0)	1 (25)	4	0.2994
New York	15 (88)	1 (6)	1 (6)	17	1.0000
Oregon	3 (50)	3 (50)	0 (0)	6	1.0000
Tennessee	2 (100)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2	1.0000
Total	212	26	22	260	

Table 4.4 State of Origin of Carbapenem Resistant *Klebsiella* Species. ^a p value for % colistin heteroresistance in each category, by odds ratio.

PAP – population analysis profile

states (data not shown), the rate of colistin heteroresistance among *Klebsiella* isolates was also higher in Georgia (14.2%, 15/105) compared to the other states combined (4.5%, 7/155, p = 0.0109) (**Table 4.4**).

The high rate of colistin heteroresistance among *Klebsiella* isolates in Georgia led us to consider whether this might be due to the presence of a predominant strain. To address this, we used cladistic analysis to determine the genetic relatedness of the colistin heteroresistant *Klebsiella* isolates based on their genome sequences (**Figure S4.2**). We observed that among the 15 colistin heteroresistant *Klebsiella* from Georgia, 13 (86.7%) clustered very closely together compared to heteroresistant isolates from other states. This genetic branch comprised isolates from all 4 years of the study, which did not cluster together temporally. All isolates were ST-258, an epidemic strain type in the US, and had capsule type KL106. In addition, they shared many resistance genes in common, including the KPC-3 carbapenemase (**Figure S4.2**). Overall, these isolates were within 0.05 p-distance, and may indicate that colistin heteroresistant, carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella* are endemic in the Georgia surveillance catchment area. Importantly, a single colistin heteroresistant ST-258 isolate closely related to the strains in the Georgia cluster was found in Minnesota in 2015, demonstrating that strains highly related to these endemic strains are present outside Georgia as well.

While we were able to detect 41 colistin heteroresistant isolates in this study using the labor-intensive PAP method, this is unlikely to be a feasible testing method in a clinical laboratory. Broth microdilution (BMD) is the CLSI approved method to test for colistin susceptibility, and we therefore retested all the heteroresistant isolates by BMD to assess how they would be classified in the clinic. Alarmingly, only 3/41 (7.4%) heteroresistant isolates were classified as resistant to colistin, while the other 38 (92.6%) were misclassified as colistin

	Total	Isolates Detected by BMD, No.	Total Isola			
	Detected Conventional Resistance ^a	Detected Heteroresistance ^b	Total Lab Detected Non-susceptible ^c	Undetected Heteroresistance ^d	Total Non-Susceptible ^e	Change in Non-susceptible Rate ^f
Enterobacter species	3 (3.0)	1 (1.0)	4 (4.0)	17 (17.0)	21 (21.0)	+525%
Escherichia species	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.1)	1 (2.1)	n/a
Klebsiella species	26 (10.0)	2 (0.8)	28 (10.8)	20 (7.7)	48 (18.5)	+171%
Total	29 (7.1)	3 (0.7)	32 (7.8)	38 (9.3)	70 (17.1)	+219%

Table 4.5 Colistin Susceptibility Results of Enterobacteriaceae by Clinical and Laboratory Testing. ^aTotal conventional resistant isolates detected as non-susceptible by broth microdilution. ^bTotal heteroresistant isolates detected as non-susceptible by broth microdilution. ^cTotal isolates (resistant and heteroresistant) detected as non-susceptible by broth microdilition. ^dTotal heteroresistant isolates detected as susceptible by broth microdilution. ^eTotal non-susceptible isolates as detected by laboratory based population analysis profile. ^fChange in rate of non-susceptibility, in %, as detected by population analysis profile compared to broth-microdilution
susceptible (**Table 4.5**). Therefore, in total, 29 isolates exhibiting "conventional" colistin resistance as well as 3 colistin heteroresistant isolates (32/408, 7.1%) were accurately identified as colistin nonsusceptible. However, when the 38 colistin heteroresistant isolates undetected by BMD are taken into account, the overall rate of colistin non-susceptibility (70/408, 17.1%) is revealed to be more than double that which is currently detected. This is a worrisome finding that indicates colistin non-susceptibility is much more widespread among highly resistant CRE than previously thought.

Discussion

This is the first multi-site surveillance study for colistin heteroresistance among CRE in the US. Treatment of highly antibiotic resistant CRE relies on last line drugs such as colistin. Our findings reveal the rate of heteroresistance to colistin to be 10.1% among CRE isolates in this surveillance population. The rate of heteroresistance to colistin exceeded the rate of "conventional" resistance (7.1%), wherein all the cells of a bacterial isolate are resistant. In total, 17.1% of isolates were classified as colistin non-susceptible. This is a surprisingly high rate as cases of colistin non-susceptible CRE in the United States were first reported in 2011²⁰³.

Importantly, none of the bacteria in this study were positive for the recently described plasmid-borne *mcr-1* colistin resistance gene. Previous studies found the rate of *mcr-1* positive isolates to be well below $1\%^{204-207}$. While there is a great deal of justified concern about the potential for *mcr-1* to spread widely, our data suggest that colistin heteroresistance is much more prevalent among highly resistant CRE in the US. Thus, colistin heteroresistance, and especially

that which is undetected, may currently represent a more urgent threat than plasmid borne colistin resistance.

The high rate of colistin heteroresistance observed in this study is compounded by the low number of isolates in which hetereoresistance was detected using standard clinical testing. By BMD, only 3/41 heteroresistant isolates were detected as being non-susceptible, indicating a major shortfall in clincal testing methods. Misidentification of a resistant isolate is considered by the FDA to be a 'very major error', and it is recommended that this rate should be under 5% for effective diagnostic tests¹⁹⁹. Errors such as these could lead to treatment of colistin heteroresistant infections with colistin which could lead to treatment failure as has been shown previously in a mouse model¹⁵⁶. Additionally, these misclassified heteroresistant strains indicate that the rate of non-susceptibility is actually 17.1%, rather than the clinically detected rate of 7.4%. Thus, colistin non-susceptible isolates are more than 2-fold more common than currently detected by clinical susceptibility testing.

While current susceptibility testing fails to correctly classify most colistin heteroresistant isolates, the results presented here suggest potential empiric guidelines that may be useful in predicting colistin heteroresistance. Among the *Enterobacter* sp. in this study, 18% were colistin heteroresistant, more than twice that of other genera. Furthermore, within *Enterobacter*, the minority species *E. asburiae*, *E. kobei*, and *E. ludwigii* were much more likely to be colistin heteroresistant (69.2% of these isolates combined). These findings may suggest that these minority species of *Enterobacter* be presumed to be colistin nonsusceptible and the use of colistin avoided when treating such infections, unless they are definitively proven to be susceptible by PAP or another highly sensitive method.

The most numerous bacteria in this study were *Klebsiella* sp., and rates of colistin heteroresistance were much higher among isolates from Georgia. Most of the heteroresistant Georgia isolates were found to be highly genetically related and shared numerous antibiotic resistance genes, suggesting that this cluster of isolates may represent a regional epidemic of colistin heteroresistant, carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (CRKP) in GA. These isolates were all from sequence type 258 (ST-258), an epidemic form of *Klebsiella pneumoniae* that emerged as a significant clinical problem in the mid-2000s ²⁰⁸. A single colistin heteroresistant ST-258 isolate within this cluster was found outside of Georgia, isolated in Minnesota in 2015, portending potential future spread of this colistin heteroresistant CRKP.

This study had some limitations that call for future investigations into the rates of colistin heteroresistance in the US and worldwide. The study population consisted of patients from 8 US areas, but this population is not representative of the US as a whole. Additionally, this study analyzed a convenience sample of the total CRE isolates from each site and therefore may not be representative of the entire CRE population at each site. As such, trends in the US patient population cannot be definitively determined from these isolates. Data is only available for 4 years (2012-2015), and all 8 study sites participated in only the two latter years. Thus, we do not yet have a clear picture of the trends of colistin heteroresistance rates among CRE in the US. However, this is an ongoing surveillance initiative (MuGSI) and we will continue to collect data on the rates of colistin heteroresistance in the future, which may provide the increased numbers needed to control for confounding factors such as site differences. These isolates are also limited to the culture sources collected as part of this surveillance project. Some samples such as respiratory cultures were not obtained. Within the study areas, there was low participation of larger private laboratories that serve specialty populations, such as dialysis, long term care, and

large private reference laboratories which largely serve outpatients. Our patient population may be biased towards isolates collected from local healthcare facilities and thus may consist of sicker patients than the general population. This study is also only limited to carbapenemresistant *Enterobacteriaceae*, and the rates of colistin heteroresistance among other groups of bacteria may be different. CRE are the most likely group of bacteria to be treated with a last-line antibiotic like colistin, but such drugs are also used to treat other highly resistant organisms such as carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter* and *Pseudomonas*²⁰⁹. Another shortfall of this study is that we are not able to draw conclusions as to whether colistin heteroresistance led to colistin treatment failure. In order to make such conclusions, patients would have to be treated with colistin monotherapy such that other co-administered antibiotics are not a confounding variable. Since all the isolates were susceptible to antibiotics other than colistin, and since colistin is often used in combination, dedicated clinical trials will be necessary to conclusively address this important question.

The results from this study show that colistin heteroresistance is an emerging problem among carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae* (CRE). Over 10% of isolates were colistin heteroresistant and the vast majority were misclassified as colistin susceptible. These findings provide further warning that colistin heteroresistance should be considered and caution should be used when interpreting susceptibility testing results and making clinical treatment decisions.

Methods

Study Design and Inclusion Criteria

The carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae included in this study were collected as part of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Emerging Infections Program's Multi-site Gram-Negative Surveillance Initiative (MuGSI)^{190,210}. MuGSI is an ongoing, active population- and laboratory-based surveillance system for carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Isolates were collected between 2012-2015 from clinical laboratories in metropolitan areas in 8 US states: Colorado (2013-15), Georgia (2012-15), Maryland (2012-15), Minnesota (2012-15), New Mexico (2014-15), New York (2013-15), Oregon (2012-15) and Tennessee (2014-15). The results of the primary antibiotic susceptibility testing methods (e.g. minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC), zone diameter interpretive criteria) used by participating local clinical laboratories were used to determine eligibility for the study. Isolates were included in the study if they tested non-susceptible to at least one carbapenem excluding ertapenem (doripenem, imipenem, meropenem MIC $\geq 2 \mu g/mL$), and resistant to all third generation cephalosporins tested (ceftriaxone MIC \geq 4 µg/mL, ceftazidime MIC \geq 16 µg/mL, and cefotaxime MIC $\geq 4 \,\mu g/mL$). Data collection was performed by trained surveillance epidemiologists at each MuGSI site. Medical records and/or laboratory reports were reviewed to obtain patient demographic data and microbiological data for analysis. Isolates from incident cases were sent to CDC for further characterization.

Colistin heteroresistance testing

Colistin heteroresistance was assessed using the population analysis profile method²¹¹. Briefly, each isolate was grown from a single colony and then serial dilutions were plated on solid Mueller-Hinton (MH) agar without colistin or containing concentrations of colistin from 0.5 to 100 ug/mL. The proportion of resistant colonies was calculated by dividing the number of colonies growing on each concentration of colistin by the number of total colonies growing on a plate with no colistin. Isolates were considered heteroresistant if the proportion (percentage) of resistant colonies at 16ug/mL of colistin or greater was at least 1 in 10^6 but less than 5 in 10^1 . Isolates were considered as exhibiting "conventional" resistance (wherein all cells of the population are phenotypically resistant) if the proportion of total colonies surviving at 4ug/mL colistin or greater was more than 5 in 10^1 . All other isolates were considered colistin susceptible.

Broth Microdilution

Colistin susceptibility testing was performed as previously described by CLSI standards (**ref**). $5x10^5$ colony forming units (CFU) were grown in Cation-Adjusted Mueller-Hinton in the presence of potency adjusted colistin methyl sulfate at 37°C shaking at 250 rpm for 20 hours. Turbidity was assessed for determination of the colistin minimum inhibitory concentration in biological replicates.

Genomics

Genome sequence data for the *Klebsiella* isolates analyzed here were accessed as FASTQ files from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) Short Read Archive (SRA) (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra). SRA accession numbers and isolate names are shown in Supplementary Table S2. The program FASTQC version 0.11.5 ²⁸ was used to evaluate the quality of the FASTQ files. Low quality reads and bases (Q<20) were removed prior to assembly using the program PRINSEQ version 0.20.4 ²¹². *Ab initio* genome assembly was performed using the program SPAdes version 3.10.0 ²¹³ with default parameters. The resulting assemblies were screened for the presence of plasmids by using BLAT version 36x1 ²¹⁴ sequence similarity searches against a custom database of bacterial plasmid sequences curated from the NCBI Genbank RefSeq database²¹⁵. Plasmid size was confirmed by pulsed field gel electrophoresis

(PFGE). Antibiotic resistance genes were annotated using BLAST ²¹⁶ sequence comparisons with the ARG-ANNOT ²¹⁷ and BIGSdb ²¹⁸ databases, respectively. Pairwise genome sequence comparisons were performed using the MUMmer version 3.23^{219} implementation of the average nucleotide identity (ANI) approach. The resulting pairwise genome sequence identities were converted to p-distances, which were used to reconstruct the isolate phylogeny with the program MEGA version 6.0^{220} .

Supplemental Figures

Colictin Succentibility No. Non succentible/Tetal Tested (%)									
	Susceptible	Conventional Resistant	Total	p valueª					
					P				
Amikacin	107/200/25 6)	14/25 (56.0)	10/26/27 8)	121/261/26 2)					
Non-susceptible	107/300 (33.0)	14/25 (50.0)	10/30(27.8)	151/501 (50.5)	0.2659				
Gentamicin	120/211/28 6)	15/25 (60.0)	0/20/21 1)	142/274/28 2)					
Non-susceptible	120/311 (38.0)	15/25 (00.0)	0/30 (21.1)	143/3/4 (38.2)	0.0254				
Tobramycin		10/24/70 2)	22/25/62.0)	264/261/72 1)					
Non-susceptible	223/302(73.8)	19/24 (79.2)	22/35(02.9)	204/301(73.1)	0.1527				
Tigecycline	A/62 (6 E)	1/5 (20.0)	1/12 (7 7)	6/20 (7 E)					
Non-susceptible	4/02 (0.5)	1/5 (20.0)	1/15(/./)	0/00(7.5)	0.9771				

Table S1. Susceptibility to Last-line Antibiotics by Clinical Testing. ^a p value for % colistin

heteroresistance in each category, by odds ratio. PAP – population analysis profile.



Figure S1. Rate of Enterobacter Species and Heteroresistance by Year, 2012-2015. (A) Rates of minority *Enterobacter cloacae* complex species (*E. asburiae, E. kobei, E. ludwigii*) as % of total *Enterobacter* species (blue line), and rates of heteroresistant *Enterobacter* species as % of total *Enterobacter* species (black line), by year. (B) Rates of heteroresistance for majority ECC species (*E. asburiae, E. kobei, E. ludwigii*, blue line) *E. aerogenes* (green line) and all *Enterobacter* species (black line), as rate of heteroresistance in %.

	Carbapenemas	es Other Beta lactamases	Other resistance genes	Sequence Type	Capsule Type
Kp1, G/	A 2015 KPC-3	SHV-5	TetD	ST-15	KL24
— Kp2, G/	A 2012	SHV-106, CMY-94, OXA-9	AadA2, MphA, DfrA12, TetA	ST-15	KL24
Кр3, М	ID 2015 KPC-2	SHV-179	Aac3-IId, MphA, TetA	ST-290	KL21
Kp4, N	M 2015	SHV-106, CTX-M-15, TEM-217	Aac3-lia, DfrA14,TetAR	ST-307	KL102
Kp5, M	ID 2015 KPC-3	SHV-1, OXA-50. TEM-217	TetD	ST-48	KL124
Ц Кр6 <i>,</i> М	ID 2015 KPC-3	SHV-1, TEM-217	Aac6-Ib, TetD	ST-48	KL124
Кр7, СС	O 2014	SHV-110, DHA-1	MphA	ST-37	KL46
Кр8, М	IN 2015 KPC-3		MphA, TetA	ST-258	KL107
Кр9, G/	A 2012 KPC-3	SHV-11	Aac6-Ib, DfrA14	ST-258	KL106
Ч Кр10, С	GA 2013 KPC-3	SHV-11	MphA, DfrA14	ST-258	KL106
Ц Кр11, С	GA 2015 KPC-3		AadA2, MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
F Kp12, C	GA 2015 KPC-3		Aac3-lid, AadA2, MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
Кр13, С	GA 2013 KPC-3	SHV-11	AadA2, MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
📖 Кр14, С	GA 2013 KPC-3		AadA2, MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
СОБ Кр15, С	GA 2015 KPC-3	SHV-11	MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
С.ОО Кр16, С	GA 2014 KPC-3	SHV-11	MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
Кр17, С	GA 2015 KPC-3	SHV-11	AadA2, MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
Кр18, С	GA 2015 KPC-3	SHV-11	AadA2, MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
Кр19, С	GA 2013 KPC-3		MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
Кр20, С	GA 2013 KPC-3		MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106
Г Кр21, С	GA 2012 KPC-3	SHV-11	MphA, DfrA14, CatA1	ST-258	KL106

Figure S2. Phylogenetic Tree, Resistance Genes, and Sequence Type of Colistin Heteroresistant *Klebsiella* Species. Phylogenetic tree of heteroresistant *Klebsiella* isolates (left), constructed based on whole genome sequence, with identifiers for state and year (GA-Georgia, MD-Maryland, NM-New Mexico, CO-Colorado). Table (right) of resistance found in each isolate, and the sequence and capsule type of each isolate. All isolates in the table shared AmpH and OqxAB resistance genes. Cluster highlighted in blue box represents highly related group of ST-258 isolates. OqxAB genes all shared same alleles within the highlighted cluster.

Chapter 5:

Discussion and Relevance

The findings we present here illustrate the importance of the phenomenon of colistin heteroresistance in Enterobacteriaceae. This phenomenon of a minor subpopulation being phenotypically resistant to colistin is concerning in several ways. First, we have shown that this resistant subpopulation is dynamic and its frequency is increased during infection and colistin treatment. As a result, minor subpopulations of resistant bacteria can mediate failure of colistin therapy. Additionally, the resistant subpopulation within colistin heteroresistant strains is often undetected by clinical susceptibility testing, which could lead to unexplained treatment failures. We further showed that colistin heteroresistance is a threat in highly antibiotic resistant CRKP, and finally, observed that the overall rate of colistin heteroresistance among CRE in the United States was over 10% in a surveillance sample from states across the country. Thus, colistin heteroresistance has the potential to be a widespread, difficult to detect, and clinically impactful form of antibiotic resistance that certainly warrants further study.

That heteroresistance can mediate failure of antibiotic therapy is a controversial topic in the current literature. It initially seems counterintuitive that such a small subpopulation of resistant cells would lead to the inefficacy of antibiotic therapy. Perhaps the best studied group of heteroresistant pathogens are the vancomycin heteroresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (hVISA)²²¹. While at least one group has found that these isolates are indeed more resistant to standard vancomycin therapy *in vivo*^{131,222}, many other groups have shown that this phenotype does not seem to impact treatment outcome^{132,223,224}. These isolates are defined by a population analysis profile, but only the area under the curve is considered, rather than the presence of discrete subpopulations. Additionally, in hVISA, the resistant subpopulation seems to have only a marginally higher MIC (within 4 fold) than the susceptible subpopulation²¹¹. This is in contrast to what we have shown with colistin heteroresistance, in which the resistant subpopulation can survive at many logs higher drug concentrations than the susceptible population. This may explain the discrepancy between the impact of heteroresistance in hVISA and in colistin heteroresistant Enterobacteriaceae in our animal model.

Immune pressure drives antibiotic resistance

One of the interesting results from this study was the substantial increase in the frequency of the resistant subpopulation after introduction into the host, even in the absence of colistin treatment. There was a multiple log increase in the frequency of the colistin resistant subpopulation (Figure 2.1), such that the resistant cells became the majority when *in vivo*. This induction in resistance occurred very early in infection, with a significant increase by 4 hours and peaking at 24 hours after infection (Figure S2.5). This phenomenon is a very important contributor to the resulting failure of antibiotic therapy, and thus further understanding of this mechanism is crucial to dealing with colistin heteroresistant infections. We show that macrophages are important contributors to this phenomenon (Figure 2.2), but it is likely that other cell types could also contribute. Neutrophils are another cell type that are likely involved in this resistance increase, as they are important contributors to antibacterial host defense early in infection²²⁵. Additionally, we identified immune compounds that mediate the colistin resistance increase: the cathelicidin LL-37, lysozyme, and H₂O₂ (Figure 2.2). There are numerous antimicrobials that the immune system produces in addition to these⁶⁴, and it is probable that many of these can also mediate the resistance increase.

The pathway involved in colistin heteroresistance is incompletely understood, but requires the PhoPQ two component system. PhoPQ can respond to stresses, able to detect changes in the extracellular environment and facilitating bacterial responses that mitigate those stresses¹⁶¹. If it were possible to inhibit this pathway or alter the environment so that it is not induced, it may be possible to prevent the increase in the colistin resistant subpopulation. This in turn could lead to efficacy of colistin against heteroresistant strains. A combination of PhoPQ pathway inhibitors and colistin may therefore be a viable option for future study as a way to counteract colistin heteroresistant infections.

There are many important implications to the increase in colistin heteroresistance *in vivo*. If the host immune system is leading to an increase in colistin resistant cells, then it could be leading to selection of antibiotic resistant organisms. This is particularly concerning in this era of increased antibiotic resistance, as decreased use of colistin may not be enough to reduce resistance due to constant selection by the immune system. Additionally, the increased resistance within the host as compared to *in vitro* may threaten the efficacy of colistin even when strains appear to be susceptible by clinical testing.

Detection of heteroresistance

In Chapter 2, we observed *E. cloacae* isolate R/S-lo mediate treatment failure while simultaneously being classified as colistin susceptible by clinical susceptibility testing. This is a very alarming result as it suggests that clinicians may be unaware of the presence of colistin heteroresistance in some isolates. As a result, they may prescribe colistin to treat a colistin heteroresistant isolate. If the outcome data from our mouse model holds true in humans, this would then lead to treatment failure. Even if the isolate was retested after this treatment failure, it would still appear to be colistin susceptible, leading to an unexplainable failure of colistin therapy. This is even more concerning in Chapter 3, where we highlight two *K. pneumoniae* isolates that had a similar phenotype of undetected colistin heteroresistance while also being resistant to last line carbapenem drugs. These isolates are more likely to be treated with colistin, making this undetected heteroresistance even more relevant in this setting.

In Chapter 4, we investigated how often colistin heteroresistance is observed in human infections. We chose to specifically look at the carbapenem resistant Enterobacteriaceae, as this class of organisms is highly drug resistant and is among the most frequent to be treated with colistin¹⁶. In the US based sample set we studied, we found a rate of colistin heteroresistance that was over 10%, indicating that colistin heteroresistance is a prevalent form of resistance. Surprisingly, this rate was even higher than the rate of conventional colistin resistance. Additionally, we observed that over 90% of colistin heteroresistant isolates in our study were undetectable by the clinical standard susceptibility test of broth microdilution. These undetected heteroresistant isolates more than double the rate of colistin non-susceptible isolates, meaning it is possible that roughly half of total colistin resistance is undetected by clinical testing methods. While we show that colistin heteroresistance leads to treatment failure in a mouse model of infection, we have yet to determine its importance in human infections. Unfortunately, this study could not address that question, as it was a retrospective analysis and there was no control over antibiotic therapy prescribed. Thus, we were unable to analyze the impact of colistin heteroresistance on outcome of colistin therapy. Thus, it will be important in the future to conduct controlled studies that address whether colistin heteroresistance impacts colistin treatment outcome in human patients.

The significant failure of susceptibility testing to detect most resistant subpopulations illustrates a major shortfall. The FDA suggests that this type of error, considered a "very major error", occur less than 10% of the time with an acceptable diagnostic¹⁹⁹. This signals the need for new diagnostic methods to detect colistin heteroresistance, and there are a few options for methods that may address this problem. In our studies, we have used the population analysis profile as the gold standard method of detecting heteroresistance, which is able to find populations at a frequency of as low as 1 in 10⁷ cells. Unfortunately, this is strictly a laboratorybased method, as it labor and resource intensive, as well as taking at least 24 hours to generate results. Automation of this method may lead to a more manageable test that could be used in certain clinical situations, though the test would still take a significant amount of time. Another possibility is to alter the composition of the testing media, to augment the visibility of the resistant subpopulations. We can see that many conditions, especially those experienced *in vivo*, can lead to an increase in the resistant subpopulation (Figure 2.2). Creating a media that can simulate this more accurately may lead to better rates of detection with conventional broth microdilution or Etest. Finally, flow cytometric methods have shown promise in leading to faster antimicrobial susceptibility testing²²⁶, and this type of test may possibly be adapted to detect lower frequency populations that occur in heteroresistant isolates.

One of the most important implications of this study is the idea that bacterial subpopulations are clinically relevant and often overlooked. The most difficult hurdle when detecting heteroresistance is that no current clinical testing method has a designation for heteroresistance. In its current form, antimicrobial resistance testing assigns an MIC value to a strain, and it is assumed that this applies homogenously to all bacteria in the population. Whether this MIC falls above or below a certain breakpoint determines whether a treatment is likely to be efficacious. In heteroresistance, there are subpopulations which straddle the breakpoint, one population having an MIC below the breakpoint and one above. In most testing, the MIC of a heteroresistant strain will be determined by the frequency of the resistant subpopulation. As we have shown, the misclassification of heteroresistant strains can cause major problems in the form of unexplained treatment failures. Knowledge of the presence of resistant subpopulations would allow clinicians to avoid using antibiotics that would likely fail. In addition to the presence of the resistant subpopulation, knowledge of the frequency of this subpopulation may also be important in the clinic. In this study, we have observed isolates with resistant subpopulations with frequencies as low as 1 in 10⁵ cells, and all of these strains mediated treatment failure. However, it is likely that frequencies somewhere below this rate would not impact treatment outcome. The idea of heterogeneity among bacterial populations is not new ^{72,136,227} but is vastly underappreciated in a clinical setting. Thus, we hope this study will lead to more consideration of these types of phenomena in the hospital environment.

Heteroresistance to other drugs

One shortfall of the findings described here is that they only address heteroresistance to colistin, and not any other antibiotics. Heteroresistance to many other classes of drugs has been described¹³³, though it remains to be seen if the findings described here for colistin also apply to these other drugs. If heteroresistance to other antibiotics can mediate failure of antibiotic therapy, that will further increase the importance of heteroresistance. Unexplained treatment failures occur during use of numerous antibiotic classes²²⁸⁻²³⁰ and heteroresistance may be a cause in many instances. Heteroresistance to other drugs may differ significantly from what is described

here for colistin, and this calls for wide ranging study into the characteristics of heteroresistance as a whole and for every antibiotic.

For one, colistin heteroresistance is augmented by passage in the host and it is possible this is true for other drugs. Polymyxins are unique in acting as a cationic antimicrobial peptide, which are also produced by the host and work in a similar charge dependent mechanism. However, other host conditions, such as oxidative stress (**Figure 2.2c**), pH, and metal concentration (unpublished data) seem to influence colistin heteroresistance as well. Thus, there may be many host conditions that can influence the rate of heteroresistance to other antibiotics. Additionally, these forms of heteroresistance could also be under the control of stress response regulators, such as PhoPQ, which would likely be activated during an infection.

Another consideration for heteroresistance to other antibiotics is the ability of clinical testing to detect the resistant subpopulations. This will depend on many factors, including the frequency of the resistant subpopulation and how it is induced during susceptibility testing. In colistin heteroresistance, it seems that growth in media used during diagnostic testing lowers the frequency of the resistant subpopulation (**Figure 2.1**), making it harder to detect. This may be true for other drugs as well, making these forms of heteroresistance similarly elusive.

The most important consideration for heteroresistance to other antibiotics is the ability of it to mediate treatment failure. As previously mentioned in the case of hVISA, it will likely be important to consider the difference in MIC between the susceptible and resistant subpopulations. A higher MIC in the resistant subpopulation may allow the strain to better resist drug treatment. Additionally, any resistance mechanisms that can inactivate the antibiotic may provide a significant advantage to a heteroresistant strain during drug treatment. This may allow a minor subpopulation to break down local antibiotic and protect neighboring susceptible cells. This is a well-known phenomenon in the satellite colonies observed during drug selection on beta-lactams²³¹. Any heteroresistance that relies on the production of a beta-lactamase may therefore have a significant effect on treatment outcome. As beta-lactams are the most commonly used class of antibiotics in the world¹⁷, this is a very worrying possibility.

Multiple heteroresistance

If there are multiple different antibiotics in multiple classes that bacteria can be heteroresistant to, then it follows that a single strain could harbor heteroresistance to two or more drugs at once. This possibility introduces several intriguing questions that may amplify the importance of heteroresistance.

If heteroresistance occurs to multiple different antibiotics at once, what are the dynamics of these two resistant subpopulations in relation to one another? The resistant subpopulations may actually be the same subpopulation of cells, which has multiple pathways turned on that allow it to resist several different drugs. This possibility could mean that any induction of the resistant population, by host immune response or other stresses, could greatly increase the overall antibiotic resistance of the strain to several different drugs. On the other hand, it is possible that strains could harbor multiple resistant subpopulations that are unrelated to one another. In this case, there would be a mix of single resistant cells and dual resistant cells, dependent of the frequency of each subpopulation. The dual heteroresistant cells would be very infrequent in the case of low frequency resistant subpopulations.

This type of dual heteroresistance could open a new avenue of therapy for heteroresistant strains, through the use of combination antibiotic therapy. Targeted use of two antibiotics when treating infections caused by strains that are heteroresistant to both antibiotics would ensure that most cells being targeted would be susceptible to at least one of these antibiotics, given the extreme rarity of a cell being resistant to both drugs at once. Combination therapy is currently used in cases of multi-drug resistant infections, to varying success^{232,233}. However, this therapy is often empiric, or employs drugs to which the target strain is seemingly resistant²³⁴. In a heteroresistance targeted combination therapy, the drug combinations could be personalized to the specific infecting pathogen, which may increase the success of this type of treatment. In fact, it is even possible that the success of a number of combination therapies has been due to multiple heteroresistance. This even opens up possibilities for antibiotic therapy for pan-resistant strains, which seem to be resistant to all antibiotics¹⁹³. If the strain were actually heteroresistant to several of these drugs, they could be useful as a targeted combination therapy. For this reason, we believe that investigation into multiple heteroresistance is the most exciting future direction for this project.

Overall, we believe this study has demonstrated the importance of heteroresistance to colistin in strains that have caused clinical infections. It is necessary to not only further characterize these organisms, but to develop better ways to detect this type of resistance in the clinical environment. Additionally, heteroresistance to colistin, and likely other antibiotics, needs to be considered when determining treatment options. Heteroresistance is clearly a phenomenon that warrants much further study, and it may hold an important key to advancing our understanding of antibiotic resistance.

Acknowledgements

Chapter 2

For assistance with Chapter 2, we would like to thank Sarah Satola, Monica Farley, and the Georgia Emerging Infections Program for providing *Enterobacter cloacae* strains Mu117, Mu819 and R/S-lo, Philip Rather for providing plasmid pMQ310, and the Yerkes Nonhuman Primate Genomics Core for help with DNA sequencing and analysis, and Chui-Yoke Chin and Denise Bonenberger for breeding and genotyping of knockout mice. We would also like to thank Rafi Ahmed, Arash Grakoui and William Shafer for comments and revisions of the manuscript. D.S.W. is supported by a Burroughs Wellcome Fund Investigator in the Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease award. E.K.C. is supported by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number T32AI106699. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

Chapter 3

For assistance with Chapter 3, the authors would like to acknowledge Emily Crispell and David Hufnagel for critical reading and editing of the manuscript. D.S.W is supported by a Burroughs Wellcome Fund Investigator in the Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease award and VA Merit Award I01BX002788, which were used to fund all experiments. This work was also supported by the Georgia Emerging Infections Program. Some isolates used in this study were collected as part of the Emerging Infections Program Multi-site Gram-negative Surveillance Initiative, supported by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

Chapter 4

For assistance with Chapter 4, we would like to thank the entire Multi-site Gram-Negative Surveillence Initiative team for enabling the collection of these isolates, as well as the individual hospitals that were involved with sample collection. We would also like to thank the CDC team for input on statistical analysis and conclusions. D.S.W is supported by a Burroughs Wellcome Fund Investigator in the Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease award and VA Merit Award I01BX002788, which were used to fund all experiments. This work was also supported by the Georgia Emerging Infections Program. Isolates used in this study were collected as part of the Emerging Infections Program Multi-site Gram-negative Surveillance Initiative, supported by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

References

- US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Antibiotic Resistance Threats in the United States. In:2013.
- 2. Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. Antimicrobial Resistance: Tackling a Crisis for the Health and Wealth of Nations. 2014; https://amr-review.org/Publications.html.
- 3. Kuper KM, Boles DM, Mohr JF, Wanger A. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing: a primer for clinicians. *Pharmacotherapy*. 2009;29(11):1326-1343.
- 4. Cui L, Su XZ. Discovery, mechanisms of action and combination therapy of artemisinin. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther.* 2009;7(8):999-1013.
- Nelson ML, Dinardo A, Hochberg J, Armelagos GJ. Brief communication: Mass spectroscopic characterization of tetracycline in the skeletal remains of an ancient population from Sudanese Nubia 350-550 CE. *Am J Phys Anthropol.* 2010;143(1):151-154.
- Cook M, Molto E, Anderson C. Fluorochrome labelling in Roman period skeletons from Dakhleh Oasis, Egypt. *Am J Phys Anthropol.* 1989;80(2):137-143.
- Aminov, RI. A brief history of the antibiotic era: lessons learned and challenges for the future.
 Front Microbiol. 2010;1:134.
- Lobanovska M, Pilla G. Penicillin's Discovery and Antibiotic Resistance: Lessons for the Future?
 Yale J Biol Med. 2017;90(1):135-145.
- Davies J. Where have All the Antibiotics Gone? *Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol*. 2006;17(5):287-290.
- Debono M, Barnhart M, Carrell CB, et al. A21978C, a complex of new acidic peptide antibiotics: isolation, chemistry, and mass spectral structure elucidation. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)*. 1987;40(6):761-777.
- 11. Silver LL. Challenges of antibacterial discovery. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2011;24(1):71-109.

- Frère JM, Sauvage E, Kerff F. From "An Enzyme Able to Destroy Penicillin" to Carbapenemases: 70 Years of Beta-lactamase Misbehaviour. *Curr Drug Targets*. 2016;17(9):974-982.
- 13. Clatworthy AE, Pierson E, Hung DT. Targeting virulence: a new paradigm for antimicrobial therapy. *Nat Chem Biol.* 2007;3(9):541-548.
- 14. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States*.
 2013; http://www.cdc.gov/drugresistance/threat-report-2013/.
- Organization WH. WHO publishes list of bacteria for which new antibiotics are urgently needed.
 2017; http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2017/bacteria-antibiotics-needed/en/.
- Morrill HJ, Pogue JM, Kaye KS, LaPlante KL. Treatment Options for Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae Infections. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* 2015;2(2):ofv050.
- 17. Van Boeckel TP, Gandra S, Ashok A, et al. Global antibiotic consumption 2000 to 2010: an analysis of national pharmaceutical sales data. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2014;14(8):742-750.
- Stansly PG, Shepherd RG, White HJ. Polymyxin: a new chemotherapeutic agent. *Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp.* 1947;81(1):43-54.
- 19. Biswas S, Brunel JM, Dubus JC, Reynaud-Gaubert M, Rolain JM. Colistin: an update on the antibiotic of the 21st century. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther*. 2012;10(8):917-934.
- The Antimicrobial Peptide Database. 2014. http://aps.unmc.edu/AP/main.php. Accessed August 25, 2014.
- Nakatsuji T, Gallo RL. Antimicrobial peptides: old molecules with new ideas. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2012;132(3 Pt 2):887-895.
- 22. Wimley WC. Describing the mechanism of antimicrobial peptide action with the interfacial activity model. *ACS Chem Biol.* 2010;5(10):905-917.
- Nizet V. Antimicrobial peptide resistance mechanisms of human bacterial pathogens. *Curr Issues Mol Biol.* 2006;8(1):11-26.

- 24. Napier BA, Burd EM, Satola SW, et al. Clinical use of colistin induces cross-resistance to host antimicrobials in Acinetobacter baumannii. *MBio*. 2013;4(3):e00021-00013.
- Napier BA, Band V, Burd EM, Weiss DS. Colistin Heteroresistance in Enterobacter cloacae Is Associated with Cross-Resistance to the Host Antimicrobial Lysozyme. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2014;58(9):5594-5597.
- 26. Gordon YJ, Romanowski EG, McDermott AM. A review of antimicrobial peptides and their therapeutic potential as anti-infective drugs. *Curr Eye Res.* 2005;30(7):505-515.
- Moskowitz SM, Ernst RK, Miller SI. PmrAB, a two-component regulatory system of Pseudomonas aeruginosa that modulates resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and addition of aminoarabinose to lipid A. *J Bacteriol.* 2004;186(2):575-579.
- Gunn JS, Lim KB, Krueger J, et al. PmrA-PmrB-regulated genes necessary for 4-aminoarabinose lipid A modification and polymyxin resistance. *Mol Microbiol*. 1998;27(6):1171-1182.
- 29. Loutet SA, Valvano MA. Extreme antimicrobial Peptide and polymyxin B resistance in the genus burkholderia. *Front Microbiol.* 2011;2:159.
- Llewellyn AC, Zhao J, Song F, et al. NaxD is a deacetylase required for lipid A modification and Francisella pathogenesis. *Mol Microbiol.* 2012;86(3):611-627.
- 31. Kanistanon D, Hajjar AM, Pelletier MR, et al. A Francisella mutant in lipid A carbohydrate modification elicits protective immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 2008;4(2):e24.
- 32. Shah NR, Hancock RE, Fernandez RC. Bordetella pertussis lipid A glucosamine modification confers resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides and increases resistance to outer membrane perturbation. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2014;58(8):4931-4934.
- 33. Hankins JV, Madsen JA, Giles DK, Brodbelt JS, Trent MS. Amino acid addition to Vibrio cholerae LPS establishes a link between surface remodeling in gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2012;109(22):8722-8727.
- Harris JB, LaRocque RC, Qadri F, Ryan ET, Calderwood SB. Cholera. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9835):2466-2476.

- 35. Lewis LA, Choudhury B, Balthazar JT, et al. Phosphoethanolamine substitution of lipid A and resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae to cationic antimicrobial peptides and complement-mediated killing by normal human serum. *Infect Immun.* 2009;77(3):1112-1120.
- 36. Lewis LA, Shafer WM, Dutta Ray T, Ram S, Rice PA. Phosphoethanolamine residues on the lipid A moiety of Neisseria gonorrhoeae lipooligosaccharide modulate binding of complement inhibitors and resistance to complement killing. *Infect Immun.* 2013;81(1):33-42.
- 37. Pelletier MR, Casella LG, Jones JW, et al. Unique structural modifications are present in the lipopolysaccharide from colistin-resistant strains of Acinetobacter baumannii. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2013;57(10):4831-4840.
- Lee H, Hsu FF, Turk J, Groisman EA. The PmrA-regulated pmrC gene mediates phosphoethanolamine modification of lipid A and polymyxin resistance in Salmonella enterica. J Bacteriol. 2004;186(13):4124-4133.
- 39. Wang X, Ribeiro AA, Guan Z, Abraham SN, Raetz CR. Attenuated virulence of a Francisella mutant lacking the lipid A 4'-phosphatase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2007;104(10):4136-4141.
- Vinogradov E, Perry MB, Conlan JW. Structural analysis of Francisella tularensis lipopolysaccharide. *Eur J Biochem*. 2002;269(24):6112-6118.
- Ingram BO, Masoudi A, Raetz CR. Escherichia coli mutants that synthesize dephosphorylated lipid A molecules. *Biochemistry*. 2010;49(38):8325-8337.
- 42. Kumada H, Haishima Y, Umemoto T, Tanamoto K. Structural study on the free lipid A isolated from lipopolysaccharide of Porphyromonas gingivalis. *J Bacteriol*. 1995;177(8):2098-2106.
- Weintraub A, Zähringer U, Wollenweber HW, Seydel U, Rietschel ET. Structural characterization of the lipid A component of Bacteroides fragilis strain NCTC 9343 lipopolysaccharide. *Eur J Biochem.* 1989;183(2):425-431.
- 44. Tran AX, Whittimore JD, Wyrick PB, McGrath SC, Cotter RJ, Trent MS. The lipid A 1phosphatase of Helicobacter pylori is required for resistance to the antimicrobial peptide polymyxin. *J Bacteriol.* 2006;188(12):4531-4541.

- 45. Needham BD, Trent MS. Fortifying the barrier: the impact of lipid A remodelling on bacterial pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2013;11(7):467-481.
- 46. Guo L, Lim KB, Poduje CM, et al. Lipid A acylation and bacterial resistance against vertebrate antimicrobial peptides. *Cell*. 1998;95(2):189-198.
- 47. Darveau RP, Blake J, Seachord CL, et al. Peptides related to the carboxyl terminus of human platelet factor IV with antibacterial activity. *J Clin Invest*. 1992;90(2):447-455.
- 48. Fields PI, Groisman EA, Heffron F. A Salmonella locus that controls resistance to microbicidal proteins from phagocytic cells. *Science*. 1989;243(4894 Pt 1):1059-1062.
- 49. Miller SI, Kukral AM, Mekalanos JJ. A two-component regulatory system (phoP phoQ) controls
 Salmonella typhimurium virulence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86(13):5054-5058.
- 50. Bader MW, Sanowar S, Daley ME, et al. Recognition of antimicrobial peptides by a bacterial sensor kinase. *Cell*. 2005;122(3):461-472.
- Gunn JS, Miller SI. PhoP-PhoQ activates transcription of pmrAB, encoding a two-component regulatory system involved in Salmonella typhimurium antimicrobial peptide resistance. J Bacteriol. 1996;178(23):6857-6864.
- 52. Guo L, Lim KB, Gunn JS, et al. Regulation of lipid A modifications by Salmonella typhimurium virulence genes phoP-phoQ. *Science*. 1997;276(5310):250-253.
- 53. McPhee JB, Lewenza S, Hancock RE. Cationic antimicrobial peptides activate a two-component regulatory system, PmrA-PmrB, that regulates resistance to polymyxin B and cationic antimicrobial peptides in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Mol Microbiol.* 2003;50(1):205-217.
- 54. Lin QY, Tsai YL, Liu MC, Lin WC, Hsueh PR, Liaw SJ. Serratia marcescens arn, a PhoP-regulated locus necessary for polymyxin B resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.
 2014;58(9):5181-5190.
- 55. Adams MD, Nickel GC, Bajaksouzian S, et al. Resistance to colistin in Acinetobacter baumannii associated with mutations in the PmrAB two-component system. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2009;53(9):3628-3634.

- 56. Allen CA, Adams LG, Ficht TA. Transposon-derived Brucella abortus rough mutants are attenuated and exhibit reduced intracellular survival. *Infect Immun.* 1998;66(3):1008-1016.
- 57. Loutet SA, Flannagan RS, Kooi C, Sokol PA, Valvano MA. A complete lipopolysaccharide inner core oligosaccharide is required for resistance of Burkholderia cenocepacia to antimicrobial peptides and bacterial survival in vivo. *J Bacteriol.* 2006;188(6):2073-2080.
- 58. Raetz CR, Reynolds CM, Trent MS, Bishop RE. Lipid A modification systems in gram-negative bacteria. *Annu Rev Biochem*. 2007;76:295-329.
- 59. Dalebroux ZD, Matamouros S, Whittington D, Bishop RE, Miller SI. PhoPQ regulates acidic glycerophospholipid content of the Salmonella Typhimurium outer membrane. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2014;111(5):1963-1968.
- Cox E, Michalak A, Pagentine S, Seaton P, Pokorny A. Lysylated phospholipids stabilize models of bacterial lipid bilayers and protect against antimicrobial peptides. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2014;1838(9):2198-2204.
- Sohlenkamp C, Galindo-Lagunas KA, Guan Z, et al. The lipid lysyl-phosphatidylglycerol is present in membranes of Rhizobium tropici CIAT899 and confers increased resistance to polymyxin B under acidic growth conditions. *Mol Plant Microbe Interact*. 2007;20(11):1421-1430.
- Jones DE, Smith JD. Phospholipids of the differentiating bacterium Caulobacter crescentus. *Can J Biochem.* 1979;57(5):424-428.
- 63. Yokum TS, Hammer RP, McLaughlin ML, Elzer PH. Peptides with indirect in vivo activity against an intracellular pathogen: selective lysis of infected macrophages. *J Pept Res*. 2002;59(1):9-17.
- 64. Dorschner RA, Lopez-Garcia B, Peschel A, et al. The mammalian ionic environment dictates microbial susceptibility to antimicrobial defense peptides. *FASEB J*. 2006;20(1):35-42.

- Willis LM, Whitfield C. Structure, biosynthesis, and function of bacterial capsular polysaccharides synthesized by ABC transporter-dependent pathways. *Carbohydr Res.* 2013;378:35-44.
- Campos MA, Vargas MA, Regueiro V, Llompart CM, Albertí S, Bengoechea JA. Capsule polysaccharide mediates bacterial resistance to antimicrobial peptides. *Infect Immun.* 2004;72(12):7107-7114.
- 67. Cortés G, Borrell N, de Astorza B, Gómez C, Sauleda J, Albertí S. Molecular analysis of the contribution of the capsular polysaccharide and the lipopolysaccharide O side chain to the virulence of Klebsiella pneumoniae in a murine model of pneumonia. *Infect Immun.* 2002;70(5):2583-2590.
- Jones A, Geörg M, Maudsdotter L, Jonsson AB. Endotoxin, capsule, and bacterial attachment contribute to Neisseria meningitidis resistance to the human antimicrobial peptide LL-37. J Bacteriol. 2009;191(12):3861-3868.
- 69. Llobet E, Tomás JM, Bengoechea JA. Capsule polysaccharide is a bacterial decoy for antimicrobial peptides. *Microbiology*. 2008;154(Pt 12):3877-3886.
- 70. Costerton JW, Stewart PS, Greenberg EP. Bacterial biofilms: a common cause of persistent infections. *Science*. 1999;284(5418):1318-1322.
- Jolivet-Gougeon A, Bonnaure-Mallet M. Biofilms as a mechanism of bacterial resistance. *Drug Discov Today Technol.* 2014;11:49-56.
- Wimpenny J, Manz W, Szewzyk U. Heterogeneity in biofilms. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.* 2000;24(5):661-671.
- Nickel JC, Ruseska I, Wright JB, Costerton JW. Tobramycin resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa cells growing as a biofilm on urinary catheter material. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1985;27(4):619-624.
- 74. Hentzer M, Teitzel GM, Balzer GJ, et al. Alginate overproduction affects Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilm structure and function. *J Bacteriol*. 2001;183(18):5395-5401.

- Folkesson A, Haagensen JA, Zampaloni C, Sternberg C, Molin S. Biofilm induced tolerance towards antimicrobial peptides. *PLoS One*. 2008;3(4):e1891.
- Chan C, Burrows LL, Deber CM. Helix induction in antimicrobial peptides by alginate in biofilms. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(37):38749-38754.
- 77. Chan C, Burrows LL, Deber CM. Alginate as an auxiliary bacterial membrane: binding of membrane-active peptides by polysaccharides. *J Pept Res.* 2005;65(3):343-351.
- 78. Benincasa M, Mattiuzzo M, Herasimenka Y, Cescutti P, Rizzo R, Gennaro R. Activity of antimicrobial peptides in the presence of polysaccharides produced by pulmonary pathogens. J Pept Sci. 2009;15(9):595-600.
- 79. Mulcahy H, Charron-Mazenod L, Lewenza S. Extracellular DNA chelates cations and induces antibiotic resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms. *PLoS Pathog.* 2008;4(11):e1000213.
- 80. Johnson L, Horsman SR, Charron-Mazenod L, et al. Extracellular DNA-induced antimicrobial peptide resistance in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *BMC Microbiol*. 2013;13(1):115.
- 81. Gooderham WJ, Bains M, McPhee JB, Wiegand I, Hancock RE. Induction by cationic antimicrobial peptides and involvement in intrinsic polymyxin and antimicrobial peptide resistance, biofilm formation, and swarming motility of PsrA in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Bacteriol. 2008;190(16):5624-5634.
- 82. Pamp SJ, Gjermansen M, Johansen HK, Tolker-Nielsen T. Tolerance to the antimicrobial peptide colistin in Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms is linked to metabolically active cells, and depends on the pmr and mexAB-oprM genes. *Mol Microbiol.* 2008;68(1):223-240.
- 83. Poole K. Efflux pumps as antimicrobial resistance mechanisms. Ann Med. 2007;39(3):162-176.
- 84. Piddock LJ. Multidrug-resistance efflux pumps not just for resistance. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2006;4(8):629-636.
- 85. Buckley AM, Webber MA, Cooles S, et al. The AcrAB-TolC efflux system of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium plays a role in pathogenesis. *Cell Microbiol.* 2006;8(5):847-856.

- 86. Nishino K, Latifi T, Groisman EA. Virulence and drug resistance roles of multidrug efflux systems of Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. *Mol Microbiol.* 2006;59(1):126-141.
- 87. Stone BJ, Miller VL. Salmonella enteritidis has a homologue of tolC that is required for virulence in BALB/c mice. *Mol Microbiol*. 1995;17(4):701-712.
- Pérez A, Poza M, Fernández A, et al. Involvement of the AcrAB-TolC efflux pump in the resistance, fitness, and virulence of Enterobacter cloacae. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2012;56(4):2084-2090.
- Bunikis I, Denker K, Ostberg Y, Andersen C, Benz R, Bergström S. An RND-type efflux system in Borrelia burgdorferi is involved in virulence and resistance to antimicrobial compounds. *PLoS Pathog.* 2008;4(2):e1000009.
- 90. Hirakata Y, Srikumar R, Poole K, et al. Multidrug efflux systems play an important role in the invasiveness of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *J Exp Med*. 2002;196(1):109-118.
- Padilla E, Llobet E, Doménech-Sánchez A, Martínez-Martínez L, Bengoechea JA, Albertí S.
 Klebsiella pneumoniae AcrAB efflux pump contributes to antimicrobial resistance and virulence.
 Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2010;54(1):177-183.
- Bina JE, Mekalanos JJ. Vibrio cholerae tolC is required for bile resistance and colonization.
 Infect Immun. 2001;69(7):4681-4685.
- 93. Jerse AE, Sharma ND, Simms AN, Crow ET, Snyder LA, Shafer WM. A gonococcal efflux pump system enhances bacterial survival in a female mouse model of genital tract infection. *Infect Immun.* 2003;71(10):5576-5582.
- 94. Bengoechea JA, Skurnik M. Temperature-regulated efflux pump/potassium antiporter system mediates resistance to cationic antimicrobial peptides in Yersinia. *Mol Microbiol.* 2000;37(1):67-80.
- 95. Bengoechea JA, Díaz R, Moriyón I. Outer membrane differences between pathogenic and environmental Yersinia enterocolitica biogroups probed with hydrophobic permeants and polycationic peptides. *Infect Immun.* 1996;64(12):4891-4899.

- 96. Shafer WM, Qu X, Waring AJ, Lehrer RI. Modulation of Neisseria gonorrhoeae susceptibility to vertebrate antibacterial peptides due to a member of the resistance/nodulation/division efflux pump family. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1998;95(4):1829-1833.
- 97. Warner DM, Shafer WM, Jerse AE. Clinically relevant mutations that cause derepression of the Neisseria gonorrhoeae MtrC-MtrD-MtrE Efflux pump system confer different levels of antimicrobial resistance and in vivo fitness. *Mol Microbiol.* 2008;70(2):462-478.
- Tzeng YL, Ambrose KD, Zughaier S, et al. Cationic antimicrobial peptide resistance in Neisseria meningitidis. *J Bacteriol.* 2005;187(15):5387-5396.
- 99. Bina XR, Provenzano D, Nguyen N, Bina JE. Vibrio cholerae RND family efflux systems are required for antimicrobial resistance, optimal virulence factor production, and colonization of the infant mouse small intestine. *Infect Immun.* 2008;76(8):3595-3605.
- Chen YC, Chuang YC, Chang CC, Jeang CL, Chang MC. A K+ yptake protein, TrkA, is required for serum, protamine, and polymyxin B resistance in Vibrio vulnificus. *Infect Immun*. 2004;72(2):629-636.
- 101. Kourtesi C, Ball AR, Huang YY, et al. Microbial efflux systems and inhibitors: approaches to drug discovery and the challenge of clinical implementation. *Open Microbiol J.* 2013;7:34-52.
- 102. Zamfir A, Seidler DG, Kresse H, Peter-Katalinić J. Structural investigation of chondroitin/dermatan sulfate oligosaccharides from human skin fibroblast decorin. *Glycobiology*. 2003;13(11):733-742.
- Schmidtchen A, Frick IM, Björck L. Dermatan sulphate is released by proteinases of common pathogenic bacteria and inactivates antibacterial alpha-defensin. *Mol Microbiol.* 2001;39(3):708-713.
- Park PW, Pier GB, Preston MJ, Goldberger O, Fitzgerald ML, Bernfield M. Syndecan-1 shedding is enhanced by LasA, a secreted virulence factor of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(5):3057-3064.

- 105. Park PW, Pier GB, Hinkes MT, Bernfield M. Exploitation of syndecan-1 shedding by Pseudomonas aeruginosa enhances virulence. *Nature*. 2001;411(6833):98-102.
- Bernfield M, Götte M, Park PW, et al. Functions of cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans.
 Annu Rev Biochem. 1999;68:729-777.
- 107. McBroom AJ, Johnson AP, Vemulapalli S, Kuehn MJ. Outer membrane vesicle production by Escherichia coli is independent of membrane instability. *J Bacteriol*. 2006;188(15):5385-5392.
- Kuehn MJ, Kesty NC. Bacterial outer membrane vesicles and the host-pathogen interaction. *Genes Dev.* 2005;19(22):2645-2655.
- 109. McBroom AJ, Kuehn MJ. Release of outer membrane vesicles by Gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response. *Mol Microbiol*. 2007;63(2):545-558.
- 110. Duperthuy M, Sjöström AE, Sabharwal D, Damghani F, Uhlin BE, Wai SN. Role of the Vibrio cholerae matrix protein Bap1 in cross-resistance to antimicrobial peptides. *PLoS Pathog.* 2013;9(10):e1003620.
- 111. Peschel A, Sahl HG. The co-evolution of host cationic antimicrobial peptides and microbial resistance. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 2006;4(7):529-536.
- Schmidtchen A, Frick IM, Andersson E, Tapper H, Björck L. Proteinases of common pathogenic bacteria degrade and inactivate the antibacterial peptide LL-37. *Mol Microbiol*. 2002;46(1):157-168.
- 113. Guina T, Yi EC, Wang H, Hackett M, Miller SI. A PhoP-regulated outer membrane protease of Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium promotes resistance to alpha-helical antimicrobial peptides. *J Bacteriol.* 2000;182(14):4077-4086.
- 114. Sol A, Skvirsky Y, Nashef R, et al. Actin Enables the Antimicrobial Action of LL-37 Peptide in the Presence of Microbial Proteases. *J Biol Chem.* 2014;289(33):22926-22941.
- 115. Selsted ME, Harwig SS. Determination of the disulfide array in the human defensin HNP-2. A covalently cyclized peptide. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264(7):4003-4007.

- 116. Maemoto A, Qu X, Rosengren KJ, et al. Functional analysis of the alpha-defensin disulfide array in mouse cryptdin-4. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(42):44188-44196.
- Campopiano DJ, Clarke DJ, Polfer NC, et al. Structure-activity relationships in defensin dimers: a novel link between beta-defensin tertiary structure and antimicrobial activity. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279(47):48671-48679.
- 118. Stumpe S, Schmid R, Stephens DL, Georgiou G, Bakker EP. Identification of OmpT as the protease that hydrolyzes the antimicrobial peptide protamine before it enters growing cells of Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol.* 1998;180(15):4002-4006.
- 119. Biegeleisen K. The probable structure of the protamine-DNA complex. *J Theor Biol.* 2006;241(3):533-540.
- 120. Kukkonen M, Korhonen TK. The omptin family of enterobacterial surface proteases/adhesins:
 from housekeeping in Escherichia coli to systemic spread of Yersinia pestis. *Int J Med Microbiol*.
 2004;294(1):7-14.
- 121. Kooi C, Sokol PA. Burkholderia cenocepacia zinc metalloproteases influence resistance to antimicrobial peptides. *Microbiology*. 2009;155(Pt 9):2818-2825.
- 122. Corbett CR, Burtnick MN, Kooi C, Woods DE, Sokol PA. An extracellular zinc metalloprotease gene of Burkholderia cepacia. *Microbiology*. 2003;149(Pt 8):2263-2271.
- 123. Kooi C, Subsin B, Chen R, Pohorelic B, Sokol PA. Burkholderia cenocepacia ZmpB is a broadspecificity zinc metalloprotease involved in virulence. *Infect Immun.* 2006;74(7):4083-4093.
- 124. Belas R, Manos J, Suvanasuthi R. Proteus mirabilis ZapA metalloprotease degrades a broad spectrum of substrates, including antimicrobial peptides. *Infect Immun.* 2004;72(9):5159-5167.
- 125. Walker KE, Moghaddame-Jafari S, Lockatell CV, Johnson D, Belas R. ZapA, the IgA-degrading metalloprotease of Proteus mirabilis, is a virulence factor expressed specifically in swarmer cells. *Mol Microbiol.* 1999;32(4):825-836.
- 126. Taggart CC, Greene CM, Smith SG, et al. Inactivation of human beta-defensins 2 and 3 by elastolytic cathepsins. *J Immunol*. 2003;171(2):931-937.

- 127. Brauner A, Fridman O, Gefen O, Balaban NQ. Distinguishing between resistance, tolerance and persistence to antibiotic treatment. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* 2016;14(5):320-330.
- 128. Mayer C, Takiff H. The Molecular Genetics of Fluoroquinolone Resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Microbiol Spectr.* 2014;2(4):MGM2-0009-2013.
- 129. Hofmann-Thiel S, van Ingen J, Feldmann K, et al. Mechanisms of heteroresistance to isoniazid and rifampin of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in Tashkent, Uzbekistan. *Eur Respir J*. 2009;33(2):368-374.
- Hiramatsu K, Aritaka N, Hanaki H, et al. Dissemination in Japanese hospitals of strains of Staphylococcus aureus heterogeneously resistant to vancomycin. *Lancet.* 1997;350(9092):1670-1673.
- 131. Moore MR, Perdreau-Remington F, Chambers HF. Vancomycin treatment failure associated with heterogeneous vancomycin-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus in a patient with endocarditis and in the rabbit model of endocarditis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2003;47(4):1262-1266.
- 132. Khatib R, Jose J, Musta A, et al. Relevance of vancomycin-intermediate susceptibility and heteroresistance in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2011;66(7):1594-1599.
- El-Halfawy OM, Valvano MA. Antimicrobial heteroresistance: an emerging field in need of clarity. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2015;28(1):191-207.
- 134. Sun JD, Huang SF, Yang SS, Pu SL, Zhang CM, Zhang LP. Impact of carbapenem heteroresistance among clinical isolates of invasive Escherichia coli in Chongqing, southwestern China. *Clin Microbiol Infect*. 2015;21(5):469.e461-410.
- 135. Fernández Cuenca F, Sánchez MeC, Caballero-Moyano FJ, et al. Prevalence and analysis of microbiological factors associated with phenotypic heterogeneous resistance to carbapenems in Acinetobacter baumannii. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 2012;39(6):472-477.

- 136. Wang X, Kang Y, Luo C, et al. Heteroresistance at the single-cell level: adapting to antibiotic stress through a population-based strategy and growth-controlled interphenotypic coordination. *MBio.* 2014;5(1):e00942-00913.
- Andersson DI, Hughes D. Gene amplification and adaptive evolution in bacteria. *Annu Rev Genet*. 2009;43:167-195.
- 138. Claudino AL, Peixoto Junior RF, Melhem MS, et al. Mutants with heteroresistance to amphotericin B and fluconazole in Candida. *Braz J Microbiol.* 2009;40(4):943-951.
- 139. Ferreira GF, Santos JR, Costa MC, et al. Heteroresistance to Itraconazole Alters the Morphology and Increases the Virulence of Cryptococcus gattii. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2015;59(8):4600-4609.
- 140. Xong HV, Vanhamme L, Chamekh M, et al. A VSG expression site-associated gene confers resistance to human serum in Trypanosoma rhodesiense. *Cell*. 1998;95(6):839-846.
- 141. Turner NC, Reis-Filho JS. Genetic heterogeneity and cancer drug resistance. *Lancet Oncol.* 2012;13(4):e178-185.
- 142. Sharma SV, Lee DY, Li B, et al. A chromatin-mediated reversible drug-tolerant state in cancer cell subpopulations. *Cell*. 2010;141(1):69-80.
- 143. Mezzatesta ML, Gona F, Stefani S. Enterobacter cloacae complex: clinical impact and emerging antibiotic resistance. *Future Microbiol.* 2012;7(7):887-902.
- 144. Davin-Regli A, Pagès JM. Enterobacter aerogenes and Enterobacter cloacae; versatile bacterial pathogens confronting antibiotic treatment. *Front Microbiol*. 2015;6:392.
- 145. Sanders WE, Sanders CC. Enterobacter spp.: pathogens poised to flourish at the turn of the century. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1997;10(2):220-241.
- 146. Carlet J, Mainardi JL. Antibacterial agents: back to the future? Can we live with only colistin, cotrimoxazole and fosfomycin? *Clin Microbiol Infect*. 2012;18(1):1-3.
- 147. Nation RL, Li J. Colistin in the 21st century. *Curr Opin Infect Dis.* 2009;22(6):535-543.

- 148. Livermore DM, Warner M, Mushtaq S, Doumith M, Zhang J, Woodford N. What remains against carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae? Evaluation of chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, colistin, fosfomycin, minocycline, nitrofurantoin, temocillin and tigecycline. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. 2011;37(5):415-419.
- 149. Wakamoto Y, Dhar N, Chait R, et al. Dynamic persistence of antibiotic-stressed mycobacteria.*Science*. 2013;339(6115):91-95.
- 150. Claudi B, Spröte P, Chirkova A, et al. Phenotypic variation of Salmonella in host tissues delays eradication by antimicrobial chemotherapy. *Cell*. 2014;158(4):722-733.
- 151. Kaiser P, Regoes RR, Dolowschiak T, et al. Cecum lymph node dendritic cells harbor slowgrowing bacteria phenotypically tolerant to antibiotic treatment. *PLoS Biol.* 2014;12(2):e1001793.
- 152. Medzhitov R. Recognition of microorganisms and activation of the immune response. *Nature*. 2007;449(7164):819-826.
- 153. Van Rooijen N. The liposome-mediated macrophage 'suicide' technique. *J Immunol Methods*.1989;124(1):1-6.
- 154. Nathan CF. Mechanisms of macrophage antimicrobial activity. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.*1983;77(5):620-630.
- 155. Iles KE, Forman HJ. Macrophage signaling and respiratory burst. *Immunol Res.* 2002;26(1-3):95-105.
- 156. Band VI, Crispell EK, Napier BA, et al. Antibiotic failure mediated by a resistant subpopulation in Enterobacter cloacae. *Nat Microbiol.* 2016;1(6):16053.
- 157. Minagawa S, Ogasawara H, Kato A, et al. Identification and molecular characterization of the Mg2+ stimulon of Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol.* 2003;185(13):3696-3702.
- 158. Alpuche Aranda CM, Swanson JA, Loomis WP, Miller SI. Salmonella typhimurium activates virulence gene transcription within acidified macrophage phagosomes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89(21):10079-10083.

- 159. Zwir I, Shin D, Kato A, et al. Dissecting the PhoP regulatory network of Escherichia coli and Salmonella enterica. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102(8):2862-2867.
- 160. Merighi M, Ellermeier CD, Slauch JM, Gunn JS. Resolvase-in vivo expression technology analysis of the Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium PhoP and PmrA regulons in BALB/c mice. *J Bacteriol.* 2005;187(21):7407-7416.
- Monsieurs P, De Keersmaecker S, Navarre WW, et al. Comparison of the PhoPQ regulon in Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium. *J Mol Evol.* 2005;60(4):462-474.
- 162. Oshima T, Aiba H, Masuda Y, et al. Transcriptome analysis of all two-component regulatory system mutants of Escherichia coli K-12. *Mol Microbiol.* 2002;46(1):281-291.
- 163. Choi E, Groisman EA, Shin D. Activated by different signals, the PhoP/PhoQ two-component system differentially regulates metal uptake. *J Bacteriol*. 2009;191(23):7174-7181.
- Band VI, Weiss DS. Mechanisms of Antimicrobial Peptide Resistance in Gram-Negative Bacteria. *Antibiotics (Basel)*. 2015;4(1):18-41.
- Keren I, Minami S, Rubin E, Lewis K. Characterization and transcriptome analysis of Mycobacterium tuberculosis persisters. *MBio*. 2011;2(3):e00100-00111.
- Helaine S, Cheverton AM, Watson KG, Faure LM, Matthews SA, Holden DW. Internalization of Salmonella by macrophages induces formation of nonreplicating persisters. *Science*.
 2014;343(6167):204-208.
- 167. Alexander HE, Leidy G. MODE OF ACTION OF STREPTOMYCIN ON TYPE b
 HEMOPHILUS INFLUENZAE : II. NATURE OF RESISTANT VARIANTS. *J Exp Med.*1947;85(6):607-621.
- 168. Rinder H. Hetero-resistance: an under-recognised confounder in diagnosis and therapy? *J Med Microbiol.* 2001;50(12):1018-1020.
- 169. Zheng C, Li S, Luo Z, et al. Mixed Infections and Rifampin Heteroresistance among Mycobacterium tuberculosis Clinical Isolates. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2015;53(7):2138-2147.
- 170. Kao CY, Lee AY, Huang AH, et al. Heteroresistance of Helicobacter pylori from the same patient prior to antibiotic treatment. *Infect Genet Evol.* 2014;23:196-202.
- 171. Kalivoda EJ, Horzempa J, Stella NA, et al. New vector tools with a hygromycin resistance marker for use with opportunistic pathogens. *Mol Biotechnol.* 2011;48(1):7-14.
- 172. Horton RM, Hunt HD, Ho SN, Pullen JK, Pease LR. Engineering hybrid genes without the use of restriction enzymes: gene splicing by overlap extension. *Gene*. 1989;77(1):61-68.
- Schweizer HP, Hoang TT. An improved system for gene replacement and xylE fusion analysis in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Gene.* 1995;158(1):15-22.
- 174. Bryksin AV, Matsumura I. Rational design of a plasmid origin that replicates efficiently in both gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(10):e13244.
- 175. Biosystems A. TRI Reagent® Solution RNA / DNA / Protein Isolation Reagent. In: Ambion;2010.
- 176. Koren S, Schatz MC, Walenz BP, et al. Hybrid error correction and de novo assembly of singlemolecule sequencing reads. *Nat Biotechnol.* 2012;30(7):693-700.
- 177. Clark SC, Egan R, Frazier PI, Wang Z. ALE: a generic assembly likelihood evaluation framework for assessing the accuracy of genome and metagenome assemblies. *Bioinformatics*. 2013;29(4):435-443.
- 178. Li H, Durbin R. Fast and accurate long-read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics*. 2010;26(5):589-595.
- Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, et al. The Sequence Alignment/Map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics*. 2009;25(16):2078-2079.
- Langmead B, Trapnell C, Pop M, Salzberg SL. Ultrafast and memory-efficient alignment of short DNA sequences to the human genome. *Genome Biol.* 2009;10(3):R25.
- Roberts A, Pimentel H, Trapnell C, Pachter L. Identification of novel transcripts in annotated genomes using RNA-Seq. *Bioinformatics*. 2011;27(17):2325-2329.

- 182. Trapnell C, Roberts A, Goff L, et al. Differential gene and transcript expression analysis of RNAseq experiments with TopHat and Cufflinks. *Nat Protoc.* 2012;7(3):562-578.
- 183. Götz S, García-Gómez JM, Terol J, et al. High-throughput functional annotation and data mining with the Blast2GO suite. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2008;36(10):3420-3435.
- Landman D, Salamera J, Quale J. Irreproducible and uninterpretable Polymyxin B MICs for Enterobacter cloacae and Enterobacter aerogenes. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2013;51(12):4106-4111.
- Schmittgen TD, Livak KJ. Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. *Nat Protoc.* 2008;3(6):1101-1108.
- 186. Herrera CM, Hankins JV, Trent MS. Activation of PmrA inhibits LpxT-dependent phosphorylation of lipid A promoting resistance to antimicrobial peptides. *Mol Microbiol*. 2010;76(6):1444-1460.
- 187. Magill SS, Edwards JR, Bamberg W, et al. Multistate point-prevalence survey of health careassociated infections. *N Engl J Med.* 2014;370(13):1198-1208.
- Podschun R, Ullmann U. Klebsiella spp. as nosocomial pathogens: epidemiology, taxonomy, typing methods, and pathogenicity factors. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1998;11(4):589-603.
- 189. Patel G, Huprikar S, Factor SH, Jenkins SG, Calfee DP. Outcomes of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infection and the impact of antimicrobial and adjunctive therapies. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* 2008;29(12):1099-1106.
- 190. Guh AY, Bulens SN, Mu Y, et al. Epidemiology of Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae in 7 US Communities, 2012-2013. *JAMA*. 2015;314(14):1479-1487.
- 191. Grundmann H, Glasner C, Albiger B, et al. Occurrence of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae and Escherichia coli in the European survey of carbapenemase-producing Enterobacteriaceae (EuSCAPE): a prospective, multinational study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2017;17(2):153-163.
- 192. Zhang R, Chan EW, Zhou H, Chen S. Prevalence and genetic characteristics of carbapenemresistant Enterobacteriaceae strains in China. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2017;17(3):256-257.

- 193. Chen L, Todd R, Kiehlbauch J, Walters M, Kallen A. *Notes from the Field*: Pan-Resistant New Delhi Metallo-Beta-Lactamase-Producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* Washoe County, Nevada, 2016. In. Vol 66: Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report; 2016:33.
- 194. Clinical Laboratory and Standards Institute. Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing. Twenty-seventh informational supplement. 2017.
- 195. bioMérieux. Etest Application Guide. In:2012.
- 196. Choi MJ, Ko KS. Loss of hypermucoviscosity and increased fitness cost in colistin-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae sequence type 23 strains. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2015;59(11):6763-6773.
- 197. Poirel L, Jayol A, Bontron S, et al. The mgrB gene as a key target for acquired resistance to colistin in Klebsiella pneumoniae. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2015;70(1):75-80.
- 198. Shin D, Lee EJ, Huang H, Groisman EA. A positive feedback loop promotes transcription surge that jump-starts Salmonella virulence circuit. *Science*. 2006;314(5805):1607-1609.
- 199. Food and Drug Administration. Class II Special Controls Guidance Document: Antimicrobial Susceptibility Test (AST) Systems. 2009.
 https://www.fda.gov/downloads/MedicalDevices/DeviceRegulationandGuidance/GuidanceDocu ments/ucm071462.pdf.
- 200. Halaby T, Kucukkose E, Janssen AB, et al. Genomic Characterization of Colistin Heteroresistance in Klebsiella pneumoniae during a Nosocomial Outbreak. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2016;60(11):6837-6843.
- 201. Halaby T, Al Naiemi N, Kluytmans J, van der Palen J, Vandenbroucke-Grauls CM. Emergence of colistin resistance in Enterobacteriaceae after the introduction of selective digestive tract decontamination in an intensive care unit. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2013;57(7):3224-3229.
- 202. Antoniadou A, Kontopidou F, Poulakou G, et al. Colistin-resistant isolates of Klebsiella pneumoniae emerging in intensive care unit patients: first report of a multiclonal cluster. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2007;59(4):786-790.

- 203. Marchaim D, Chopra T, Pogue JM, et al. Outbreak of colistin-resistant, carbapenem-resistant
 Klebsiella pneumoniae in metropolitan Detroit, Michigan. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*.
 2011;55(2):593-599.
- 204. Zhang R, Liu L, Zhou H, et al. Nationwide Surveillance of Clinical Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) Strains in China. *EBioMedicine*. 2017;19:98-106.
- 205. Venditti C, Nisii C, D'Arezzo S, Vulcano A, Di Caro A. Letter to the Editor: Surveillance of mcr-1 and mcr-2 genes in Carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae strains from an Italian Hospital. *Euro Surveill.* 2017;22(35).
- 206. Wang Y, Tian GB, Zhang R, et al. Prevalence, risk factors, outcomes, and molecular epidemiology of mcr-1-positive Enterobacteriaceae in patients and healthy adults from China: an epidemiological and clinical study. *Lancet Infect Dis.* 2017;17(4):390-399.
- Yu H, Qu F, Shan B, et al. Detection of the mcr-1 Colistin Resistance Gene in Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae from Different Hospitals in China. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2016;60(8):5033-5035.
- Chen L, Mathema B, Pitout JD, DeLeo FR, Kreiswirth BN. Epidemic Klebsiella pneumoniae ST258 is a hybrid strain. *MBio*. 2014;5(3):e01355-01314.
- 209. Levin AS, Barone AA, Penço J, et al. Intravenous colistin as therapy for nosocomial infections caused by multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Acinetobacter baumannii. *Clin Infect Dis.* 1999;28(5):1008-1011.
- 210. Prevention CfDCa. Multi-site Gram-negative Surveillance Initiative. 2016; https://www.cdc.gov/hai/eip/mugsi.html.
- 211. Satola SW, Farley MM, Anderson KF, Patel JB. Comparison of detection methods for heteroresistant vancomycin-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus, with the population analysis profile method as the reference method. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2011;49(1):177-183.
- 212. Schmieder R, Edwards R. Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets.*Bioinformatics*. 2011;27(6):863-864.

- 213. Bankevich A, Nurk S, Antipov D, et al. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. *J Comput Biol.* 2012;19(5):455-477.
- 214. Kent WJ. BLAT--the BLAST-like alignment tool. *Genome Res.* 2002;12(4):656-664.
- 215. Pruitt KD, Tatusova T, Brown GR, Maglott DR. NCBI Reference Sequences (RefSeq): current status, new features and genome annotation policy. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2012;40(Database issue):D130-135.
- 216. Camacho C, Coulouris G, Avagyan V, et al. BLAST+: architecture and applications. *BMC Bioinformatics*. 2009;10:421.
- 217. Gupta SK, Padmanabhan BR, Diene SM, et al. ARG-ANNOT, a new bioinformatic tool to discover antibiotic resistance genes in bacterial genomes. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2014;58(1):212-220.
- 218. Jolley KA, Maiden MC. BIGSdb: Scalable analysis of bacterial genome variation at the population level. *BMC Bioinformatics*. 2010;11:595.
- 219. Kurtz S, Phillippy A, Delcher AL, et al. Versatile and open software for comparing large genomes. *Genome Biol.* 2004;5(2):R12.
- 220. Tamura K, Stecher G, Peterson D, Filipski A, Kumar S. MEGA6: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis version 6.0. *Mol Biol Evol*. 2013;30(12):2725-2729.
- 221. van Hal SJ, Paterson DL. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the significance of heterogeneous vancomycin-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus isolates. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother.* 2011;55(1):405-410.
- 222. Casapao AM, Davis SL, McRoberts JP, et al. Evaluation of vancomycin population susceptibility analysis profile as a predictor of outcomes for patients with infective endocarditis due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2014;58(8):4636-4641.

- 223. Horne KC, Howden BP, Grabsch EA, et al. Prospective comparison of the clinical impacts of heterogeneous vancomycin-intermediate methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and vancomycin-susceptible MRSA. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2009;53(8):3447-3452.
- 224. Satola SW, Lessa FC, Ray SM, et al. Clinical and laboratory characteristics of invasive infections due to methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates demonstrating a vancomycin MIC of 2 micrograms per milliliter: lack of effect of heteroresistant vancomycin-intermediate S. aureus phenotype. *J Clin Microbiol.* 2011;49(4):1583-1587.
- 225. Kruger P, Saffarzadeh M, Weber AN, et al. Neutrophils: Between host defence, immune modulation, and tissue injury. *PLoS Pathog.* 2015;11(3):e1004651.
- 226. Pore RS. Antibiotic susceptibility testing by flow cytometry. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 1994;34(5):613-627.
- 227. Dubnau D, Losick R. Bistability in bacteria. Mol Microbiol. 2006;61(3):564-572.
- 228. Musher DM, Aslam S, Logan N, et al. Relatively poor outcome after treatment of Clostridium difficile colitis with metronidazole. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2005;40(11):1586-1590.
- 229. Kaplan EL, Johnson DR. Unexplained reduced microbiological efficacy of intramuscular benzathine penicillin G and of oral penicillin V in eradication of group a streptococci from children with acute pharyngitis. *Pediatrics*. 2001;108(5):1180-1186.
- 230. Garnacho-Montero J, Garcia-Garmendia JL, Barrero-Almodovar A, Jimenez-Jimenez FJ, Perez-Paredes C, Ortiz-Leyba C. Impact of adequate empirical antibiotic therapy on the outcome of patients admitted to the intensive care unit with sepsis. *Crit Care Med.* 2003;31(12):2742-2751.
- 231. Traub WH. Simple screening method for gram-positive bacterial beta-lactam antibiotic tolerance on routine laboratory Bauer-Kirby antibiogram plates. *Chemotherapy*. 1982;28(2):110-118.
- 232. Tamma PD, Cosgrove SE, Maragakis LL. Combination therapy for treatment of infections with gram-negative bacteria. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 2012;25(3):450-470.

- 233. Micek ST, Welch EC, Khan J, et al. Empiric combination antibiotic therapy is associated with improved outcome against sepsis due to Gram-negative bacteria: a retrospective analysis. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2010;54(5):1742-1748.
- Worthington RJ, Melander C. Combination approaches to combat multidrug-resistant bacteria.
 Trends Biotechnol. 2013;31(3):177-184.